VILNIUS UNIVERSITY

NERINGA KLOVIENĖ

NON-STATIONARY POISEUILLE TYPE SOLUTIONS FOR THE SECOND GRADE FLUID FLOW PROBLEM IN CYLINDRICAL DOMAINS

Doctoral dissertation Physical sciences, mathematics (01P) The scientific work was carried out in 2006-2012 at Vilnius University.

Scientific supervisor:

Prof. Habil. Dr. Konstantinas Pileckas (Vilnius University, Physical sciences, Mathematics - 01P)

VILNIAUS UNIVERSITETAS

NERINGA KLOVIENĖ

ANTROJO LAIPSNIO SKYSČIŲ TEKĖJIMO UŽDAVINIO NESTACIONARŪS PUAZEILIO TIPO SPRENDINIAI CILINDRINĖSE SRITYSE

Daktaro disertacija Fiziniai mokslai, matematika (01P) Disertacija rengta 2006 – 2012 metais Vilniaus Universitete.

Mokslinis vadovas:

Prof. habil. dr. Konstantinas Pileckas (Vilniaus Universitetas, fiziniai mokslai, matematika - $01\mathrm{P})$

Contents

In	trod	luction	7				
	Acti	uality and history of the problem	. 7				
	Aim	ns and problems	. 11				
		thods^-					
		velty					
		Outline of the thesis					
	Publications						
		knowledgment					
1	Preliminaries						
	1.1	Notation	. 16				
	1.2	Auxiliary results	. 18				
2	Channel flow						
	2.1	Construction of an approximate solution	. 23				
	2.2	A priori estimates	. 25				
	2.3	Decay of the approximate solution as $t \to \infty$. 30				
	2.4	Existence and uniqueness of the solution	. 33				
3	Rot	tational pipe flow	36				
4	Time periodic channel flow						
	4.1	Direct problem	. 41				
	4.2	4.2 Relationship between the flux and the gradient of the pressure 4					
	4.3	Inverse problem	. 55				

5	Flow in a pipe with arbitrary cross section				
	5.1	1 Function spaces and auxiliary results			
	5.2	Direct	problem in a plane domain	62	
		5.2.1	Construction of approximate solutions	63	
		5.2.2	A priori estimates	65	
		5.2.3	Existence and uniqueness of the solution	71	
	5.3	8 Construction of an approximate solution to the inverse problem (5.8)			
	5.4	A priori estimates for inverse problem (5.8)			
	5.5	Existe	ence and uniqueness of the solution to inverse problem (5.8)	89	
Co	onclu	sions		94	

Introduction

In the thesis we study mathematical models of incompressible, homogeneous viscoelastic second grade fluid flows in certain two- and three-dimensional unbounded domains Π . More precisely, we assume that the domain Π is either the infinite channel $\Pi = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : (x_1, x_2) \in \sigma \times \mathbb{R}\}$, where $\sigma = [-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}]$ with d > 0 denoting the width of the channel, or the infinite cylinder $\Pi = \{x = (x', x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : (x', x_3) \in \sigma \times \mathbb{R}\}$, where $x' = (x_1, x_2)$ and σ denotes the constant cross-section of the tube, i.e., σ is bounded, connected subset of \mathbb{R}^2 independent of x_3 . We assume that the boundary $\partial \sigma$ is C^4 -smooth. We are looking for a solution to the second grade fluid flow problem having a prescribed time dependent flux. Such problems are reduced to inverse problems with an unknown right-hand side corresponding to the pressure drop along the axis of the cylinder.

In the two dimensional case and in the case of axially symmetric cylinder we prove the global existence of a unique unidirectional flow and find the relationship between the flux and the gradient of the pressure.

In a general three-dimensional pipe (without axial symmetry) we prove the existence of a unique global solution for small data. We also prove that in the case of unidirectional data the velocity components perpendicular to the axis of the cylinder are secondary.

Time-periodic problem for the second grade fluid flow in a channel is also studied. For this problem we prove the existence of the unique solution and find the relationship between the flux and the gradient of the pressure.

Actuality and history of the problem

The mechanical behavior of fluids are specified by constitutive equations. For long time Navier-Stokes equation seemed to be most useful to describe non-Newtonian fluids motion. However, in many fields, such as food industry or bio-engineering, the fluids are mixtures and cannot be described by the Navier-Stokes equations. Examples of such

combined fluids are gels, paints, oils, slurries, geological fluids, food products, blood, etc. These liquids have strong non-Newtonian characteristics. It is difficult to suggest a single model which would exhibit all properties of viscoelastic fluids. One of models to account for the rheological effects of viscoelastic fluid is the second grade fluid flow model. It belongs to the class of non-Newtonian Rivlin-Ericksen fluids of differential type (see [40], [86]). This model describes a large class of viscous fluids with polymer additives and viscoelastic liquids with "short memory". The equations governing the flow of the second grade fluid are one order higher than the Navier-Stokes equations.

The stress tensor for the second grade fluid is given by [74]

$$\mathbf{T} = p\mathbf{I} + \nu\mathbf{A}_1 + \alpha_1\mathbf{A}_2 + \alpha_2\mathbf{A}_1^2$$

where

$$\mathbf{A}_1 = \nabla \mathbf{u} + (\nabla \mathbf{u})^T,$$

$$\mathbf{A}_2 = \frac{d}{dt} \mathbf{A}_1 + \mathbf{A}_1 \nabla \mathbf{u} + (\nabla \mathbf{u})^T \mathbf{A}_1,$$

p and \mathbf{u} are the pressure and the velocity field, ν is the coefficient of viscosity and α_1, α_2 are coefficients of the material (usually called normal stress moduli). Considerations on the stability of the rest state require ν and α_1 to be nonnegative ([18], [21], [32], [41]).

For fluids of the second grade, we express the divergence of the stress tensor T as follows

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{T} = -\nabla p + \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \alpha_1 \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \Delta \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \Delta \mathbf{u} \right) + \mathbf{N}_1(\mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{N}_2(\mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{N}_3(\mathbf{u})$$
(0.1)

where

$$\mathbf{N}_{1}(\mathbf{u}) = \alpha_{1}(\nabla \mathbf{u})^{T} : \nabla \mathbf{A}_{1},$$

$$\mathbf{N}_{2}(\mathbf{u}) = \alpha_{1}\nabla \cdot (\mathbf{A}_{1}\mathbf{W} - \mathbf{W}\mathbf{A}_{1}),$$

$$\mathbf{N}_{3}(\mathbf{u}) = (\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2})\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A}_{1}^{2}$$

with

$$\mathbf{W} = \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \mathbf{u} - (\nabla \mathbf{u})^T).$$

The flow of the fluid can be expressed by linear momentum

$$\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{u} - \nabla \cdot \mathbf{T} = \rho \mathbf{f}, \tag{0.2}$$

where \mathbf{f} denotes the external force, and, for simplicity, the constant density of the fluid ρ is taken equal to 1. Substituting expression (0.1) into equation (0.2) and assuming that

the motion is incompressible we obtain the following system of equations

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha_1 \Delta \mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla(\mathbf{u} - \alpha_1 \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla p - \mathbf{N}_1(\mathbf{u}) \\
-\mathbf{N}_2(\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{N}_3(\mathbf{u}) = \mathbf{f}, \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0.
\end{cases} (0.3)$$

We consider the problem in the space-time region $\Pi^T = \Pi \times (0,T)$, where Π is sufficiently smooth, bounded two- or three-dimensional domain, and T > 0. We assume that the fluid adheres to the walls $\partial \Pi$ of the fixed container Π :

$$\mathbf{u}(x,t) = 0, \quad (x,t) \in \partial \Pi \times (0,T). \tag{0.4}$$

Finally, we append the initial condition

$$\mathbf{u}(x,0) = \mathbf{u}_0(x), \quad x \in \Pi. \tag{0.5}$$

Special cases of problem (0.3), (0.4), (0.5) have been considered by many authors. Oskolkov has investigated the case when all $\mathbf{N}_i = 0$ (see [57], [58], [59]). Using "vanishing viscosity" method he proved the existence and uniqueness of a global weak solution. In 1974, Dunn and Fosdick [21] showed that, in oder to make the fluid model consistent with thermodynamics, the material constants must be taken to satisfy

$$\nu \geq 0$$
, $\alpha_1 \geq 0$, $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 0$.

Moreover, they showed that the rest state is asymptotically stable just when previous inequalities are strict. Instability results for $\alpha_1 < 0$ have been found in some special flow situations (see [18], [82]). In the thesis we recall the thermodynamical restriction $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 0$ and take

$$\alpha_1 = -\alpha_2 := \alpha.$$

Therefore, we can rewrite problem (0.3), (0.4), (0.5) as

$$\label{eq:control_equation} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla (\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} - \mathbf{N}_1(\mathbf{u}) - \mathbf{N}_2(\mathbf{u}) + \nabla p = \mathbf{f}, \\ \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\ \mathbf{u}|_{S^T} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x,0) = \mathbf{u}_0(x), \end{array} \right.$$

where $S^T = \partial \Pi \times (0, T)$.

However, in this work we refer another formulation of the problem obtained by observing that

$$\operatorname{curl} \Delta \mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla \Delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla \cdot ((\nabla \mathbf{u})^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{A}_{1}) - \nabla (\mathbf{u} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{u} + \frac{1}{4} |\mathbf{A}_{1}|^{2}).$$

Then the second grade fluid flow problem takes the form

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{u} + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}, \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\
\mathbf{u}|_{S^T} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x, 0) = \mathbf{u}_0(x)
\end{cases} (0.6)$$

with the modified pressure

$$\widetilde{p} = \alpha(\mathbf{u} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{u} + \frac{1}{4}A : A) - \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{u}) + p.$$

Let us remark, that in the two-dimensional case we understand curl and the vector product as usually in \mathbb{R}^3 assuming that vectors have zero third component and do not depend on x_3 .

The first who have used equation (0.6) were Dunn and Fosdick [21]. Since then it has been the most usual of the equations considering the second grade fluids (see [6], [11], [13], [14], [20], [21], [33], [34], [39], [40], [60], [65], [66], [82], [86], and others). Cioranescu and Quazar in [15] (see also [13], [14]) have proved the existence of a unique global solution in two-dimensional bounded domains, and of a local solution in three-dimensional case.

In this thesis we are looking for the solution of system (0.6) in the cylinder $\Pi = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : x' \in \sigma \times \mathbb{R}\}$ which has the prescribed flux F(t) over the cross-section σ^1 :

$$\int_{\sigma} u_n(x', x_n, t) dx' = F(t). \tag{0.7}$$

For the two-dimensional channel and the three-dimensional axially symmetric pipe we assume that the initial data and the external force have only the last component and are independent of the coordinate x_n . We look for an unidirectional (having just the last component) solution, which satisfies the flux condition. Such solution we call Poiseuille type solution. Different types of such exact solutions were computed numerically in [4], [10], [16], [22], [31], [35], [43], [45], [51], [54], [70], [71], [77], [78], [79] etc.

$$1\sigma = (-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$$
, if $n = 2$, and $\sigma = \{x' = (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |x'| < 1\}$, if $n = 3$.

For $\alpha = 0$ the system (0.6) coincide with the Navier-Stokes system. For the non-stationary Navier-Stokes system Poiseuille type solutions with prescribed time dependent flux are found and investigated in [36], [37], [61]-[64]. The time periodic Navier-Stokes problem with given flux was considered in [9], [37].

Note that equations (0.6) describing the motion of fluids of second grade are of higher order than the Navier-Stokes equations. A significant difference between the Navier-Stokes system and equations (0.6) is that the nonlinear terms in Navier-Stokes equations are of lower order than the linear ones, while in (0.6) the nonlinear terms are of higher order. Therefore, in the three-dimensional pipe (without axial symmetry) the unidirectional solution for the second grade fluid flow problem is impossible, and the Poiseuille type solution has all three components. However, in this case the velocity components U_1, U_2 are secondary in comparison with the axial velocity U_3 . The analogous results for the steady second grade fluid motion are obtained in [65], [66].

Notice that in the case of the three-dimensional pipe the most essential were the ideas proposed by Cioranescu, Quazar and Girault in [13]-[15]. As in these papers, we find the solutions by the Galerkin method using the special basis constructed in [13],[15]. Notice, that unlike [13]-[15], in oder to satisfy the flux condition, we have to solve the inverse problem with the unknown right-hand side corresponding to the pressure drop (gradient of the pressure).

Aims and problems

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the solvability and uniqueness of the solution to the second grade fluid flow problem with prescribed flux condition in the following cases:

- the initial boundary problem in the two-dimensional channel,
- the initial boundary value problem in the three-dimensional pipe with rotational symmetry,
- the time-periodic problem in the two-dimensional channel,
- the initial boundary value problem in the three-dimensional pipe.

Methods

In the thesis we apply the methods of functional analysis, properties of Sobolev spaces. To construct an approximate solution we use Galerkin method with the special bases.

Novelty

All results presented in this doctoral thesis are new. The Poiseuille type solution for the non-stationary second grade fluid flow problem with prescribed flux condition earlier were not studied. The existence results and estimates obtained for the solutions are new.

Structure of the thesis

The thesis consists of Introduction, 5 chapters, conclusions and bibliography. Introduction contains a short review about the history of the problem and describes shortly obtained results. In Chapter 1 we present basic notations and auxiliary propositions which are used in the work. The initial boundary value problem for the second grade fluid flow in the two-dimensional channel is studied in Chapter 2. In this chapter we construct the solution using the Galerkin method and prove that there exists the unique global solution. In Chapter 3 we obtain the analogous results in the three-dimensional cylinder with axial symmetry, assuming that the data are also axially symmetric. Chapter 4 is devoted to the study of the time periodic problem in the two dimensional channel. The last Chapter 5 deals with the second grade fluid flow problem in the three-dimensional pipe. For sufficiently small data we prove the existence of the unique solution having the prescribed flux. The existence is proved by the Galerkin method using the special basis constructed by Cioranescu and Quazar in [14], [15].

Approbation

The results of the thesis were presented at:

- International conference "Parabolic and Navier-Stokes Equations" (Będlewo, Poland, 2012, September 2 - 8),
- International conference "Regularity Aspects of Partial differential equations" (Będlewo, Poland, 2010. September 5 11),
- 51th conference of Lithuanian Mathematical Society (Šiauliai, 2010, June 17 18).
- 15th Master and PhD conference IVUS 2010 (Kaunas, 2010, May 13).
- International conference "Differential equations and their applications" (Panevėžys, 2009, September 10 - 12).
- 50th conference of Lithuanian Mathematical Society (Vilnius, 2009, June 18 19).
- Seminars on "Differential equations" at the department of Mathematics and Informatics of Vilnius university (Vilnius, 2009 2012).
- Seminars "Differential equations and there applications" of the Institute of Mathematics and Informatics (Vilnius, 2007 2009).

Publications

The main results of the thesis are published in the following papers:

- 1. Klovienė N., Pileckas K., The second grade fluid flow problem in an infinite pipe, Asymptotic Analysis, (2012) (accepted for publication).
- 2. Klovienė N., Pileckas K., Nonstationary Poiseuille type solutions for the second grade fluid flow, *Lithuanian Mathematical Journal*, **52** (2), 155-171 (2012).
- 3. Klovienė N., On a third order initial boundary value problem in a plane domain, Nonlinear Analysis: Modeling and Control, 17 (3), 312-326 (2012).
- 4. Klovienė N., Poiseuille type solution of second grade fluid, *Proceedings of the 15th Master and PhD conference IVUS 2010*, 69-73 (2010).
- 5. Klovienė N., Periodic by time the second grade fluid flow in the infinite channel, Lietuvos Matematikos Rinkinys, LMD darbai, **50**, 30-35 (2009) (in lithuanian).

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my deep gratitude to my scientific supervisor professor Konstatinas Pileckas for his support and attention during the doctoral studies. I am really grateful for his patience working with me.

I appreciate all members of the Department of Mathematics and Informatics of Vilnius University for there assistance.

And I would like to thank my colleagues at Šiauliai University, Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics for inspiration and useful discussions.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

1.1 Notation

i,j,k,l,n,p,r - natural numbers.

 \mathbb{R}^n - n-dimensional Euclidean space.

$$x = (x_1, ..., x_n)$$
 - point in \mathbb{R}^n .

 Ω - domain (open connected set) in \mathbb{R}^n .

 $\partial\Omega$ - boundary of the domain Ω .

 $\bar{\Omega}$ - closure of the domain Ω .

$$\Omega^T = \Omega \times (0, T).$$

 $||\cdot||_X$ - the norm in the Banach space X.

The vector-valued function $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, \dots, u_n)$ belongs to the space V, if $u_i \in V, i = 1, \dots, n$, and $\|\mathbf{u}\|_V = \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \|u_i\|_V^2\right)^{1/2}$.

$$\alpha = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_n), \alpha_i \ge 0$$
, - multi-index, $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + ... + \alpha_n$.

$$D^{\alpha} = D_1^{\alpha_1}...D_n^{\alpha_n}$$
 - a differential operator of order $|\alpha|$, where $D^{\alpha_i} = \frac{\partial^{\alpha_i}}{\partial x_j}$.

 \mathbb{C}^k - the space, consisting of k-times continuously differentiable functions.

 $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ - the set of all infinitely differentiable functions defined on Ω .

 $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ - the subset of all functions from $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ with compact support in Ω .

We say, that the boundary $\partial\Omega$ of the domain Ω is C^k , if for each point $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$ there exists r > 0 and a C^k - function $f: \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that in local coordinates we have $\partial\Omega \cap B(x_0,r) = \{x \in B(x_0,r) : x_n = f(x_1,...,x_{n-1})\}$, where $B(x_0,r)$ denotes a ball with the center in x_0 and the radial r.

 $L_p(\Omega)$ - the Banach space, consisting of functions, whose p^{th} powers are integrable over Ω . The norm in $L_p(\Omega)$ is given by $||f||_{L_p(\Omega)} = \left(\int\limits_{\Omega} |f|^p dx\right)^{1/p}$.

 $L_{\infty}(\Omega)$ - the Banach space of functions with the norm $||f||_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} |f(x)|$.

 $W_p^l(\Omega)$ - the Sobolev space which consists of functions such that $D^{\alpha}f \in L_p(\Omega)$ for all week partial derivatives of order $|\alpha|$, $0 \le |\alpha| \le l$. The norm in $W_p^l(\Omega)$ is given by $||f||_{W_p^l(\Omega)} = \Big(\sum_{|\alpha|=0}^l \int_{\Omega} |D^{\alpha}f(x)|^p dx\Big)^{1/p}$.

 \mathring{W}_p^l - the Sobolev space which is obtained as a closure of the set $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the norm $\|f\|_{W_p^l(\Omega)}$.

 $W_2^{2l,l}(\Omega^T)$ - the Hilbert space (l>0), consisting of functions, whose derivatives $D_t^r D_x^{\alpha} f$ belong to $L_2(\Omega^T)$, $2r+|\alpha|\leq 2l$. The norm of $W_2^{2l,l}(\Omega)$ is

belong to
$$L_2(\Omega^T)$$
, $2r + |\alpha| \le 2l$. The norm of $W_2^{2l,l}(\Omega)$ is $||f||_{W_2^{2l,l}(\Omega)} = \left(\sum_{j=0}^{2l} \sum_{2r+|\alpha|=j} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} |D_t^r D_x^{\alpha} f(x,t)|^2 dx dt\right)^{1/2}$.

 $W_2^{1,1}(\Omega^T)$ - the space with the norm

$$\|f\|_{W_2^{1,1}(\Omega^T)} = \Big(\int\limits_0^T (\|\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}(\cdot,t)\|_{L_2(\Omega)}^2 + \|f(\cdot,t)\|_{W_2^1(\Omega)}^2)dt\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

 $W_2^{1,0}(\Omega)$ - the space with the norm $\|f\|_{W_2^{1,0}(\Omega)} = \left(\int\limits_0^T \|f(\cdot,t)\|_{W_2^1(\Omega)}^2 dt\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

 $\mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\Omega^{T}),\mathring{W}_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega^{T})$ - subsets of spaces $W_{2}^{1,0}(\Omega^{T}),W_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega^{T})$ consisting of functions such that $f(x,t)|_{\partial\Omega\times(0,T)}=0$.

 $W_2^{-1}(\Omega)$ - the dual space to $\mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$.

$$\nabla f = (\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}, ..., \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_n})$$
 - gradient of the function f .

$$\Delta f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_i^2}$$
 - Laplacian operator of the function f .

 $\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{u} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i u_i$ - scalar product for functions \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{u} .

 $\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{u} = (v_2 u_3 - v_3 u_2, v_3 u_1 - v_1 u_3, v_1 u_2 - v_2 u_1)$ if \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{u} are three-dimensional vectors, $\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{u} = (0, 0, v_1 u_2 - v_2 u_1)$ if \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{u} are two-dimensional vectors.

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_i}.$$

$$\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{u} = \nabla \times \mathbf{u} = \left(\frac{\partial u_3}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial x_3}, \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x_3} - \frac{\partial u_3}{\partial x_1}, \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x_2}\right).$$

The operator curl in the two-dimensional case $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, u_2)$ we understand as usually in \mathbb{R}^3 assuming that vector-field has zero third component and the components are independent of x_3 : curl $\mathbf{u} = (0, 0, \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x_2})$.

$$\mathbf{A}: \mathbf{B} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij} B_{ij}$$
 where A and B are $n \times n$ matrices with elements A_{ij}, B_{ij} .

We use letters c, C, c_j , j = 1, 2, ..., to denote constants whose numerical values or whose dependence on parameters is unessential to our considerations. In such case c may have different values in a single computation.

1.2 Auxiliary results

Theorem 1.1. (Young Inequality with ε) For all $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ the following inequality

$$|ab| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{q} |a|^q + \frac{\varepsilon^{-q'/q}}{q'} |b|^{q'}, \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0$$

holds, where $\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{q'} = 1$. If q = 2 we get, so called, **Cauchy** inequality with ε :

$$|ab| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2}|a|^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon}|b|^2, \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

Theorem 1.2. (Minkowski Inequality) Assume $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $u, v \in L_p(\Omega)$. Then

$$||u+v||_{L_p(\Omega)} \le ||u||_{L_p(\Omega)} + ||v||_{L_p(\Omega)}.$$

Theorem 1.3. (Hölder Inequality) (see [26]) Let q > 1, $f \in L_q(\Omega)$, $g \in L_{q'}(\Omega)$, where $\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{q'} = 1$, then

$$|\int_{\Omega} f(x)g(x)dx| \leq (\int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^{q}dx)^{1/q} (\int_{\Omega} |g(x)|^{q'}dx)^{1/q'} = ||f||_{L_{q}(\Omega)} ||g||_{L_{q'}(\Omega)}.$$

If q = q' = 2, the previous inequality is called Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and takes the form

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} f(x)g(x)dx \right| \le \left(\int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^2 dx \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Omega} |g(x)|^2 dx \right)^{1/2} = ||f||_{L_2(\Omega)} ||g||_{L_2(\Omega)}.$$

Theorem 1.4. (Poincaré-Friedrichs Inequality) (see [26]) Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a bounded domain, then for all $u \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ the following inequality

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} |u(x)|^2 d \le \frac{1}{\lambda_1} \int\limits_{\Omega} |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx,$$

holds, where λ_1 is the smallest eigenvalue of the Dirichlet boundary problem for Laplace operator in Ω :

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u = \lambda u, \\ u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Theorem 1.5. (Sobolev Embedding) (see [1]) Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a bounded domain.

• If $l \ge 1$, $q \ge 1$,

$$n \ge ql, \quad r < \frac{qn}{n-ql},$$

then the space $W_a^l(\Omega)$ is embedded into $L_r(\Omega)$ and

$$||u||_{L_r(\Omega)} \le c||u||_{W_q^l(\Omega)}.$$

• If n < ql, then $W_q^l(\Omega)$ is embedded into $C^h(\bar{\Omega})$, where $h \le (ql - n)/q$, and

$$||u||_{C^h(\bar{\Omega})} \le c||u||_{W_q^l(\Omega)}.$$

Theorem 1.6. (see [52]) If $u \in W_2^{2l,l}(\Omega^T)$, then $D_t^r D_x^{\alpha} u$ with $2r + |\alpha| < 2l - 1$ belong to

the space $W_2^{2l-2r-|\alpha|-1}(\Omega)$ and there holds the inequality

$$||D_t^r D_x^{\alpha} u(\cdot, t)||_{W_2^{2l-2r-|\alpha|-1}(\Omega)} \le c||u||_{W_2^{2l,l}(\Omega^T)}$$

with the constant c independent of $t \in [0, T]$.

Theorem 1.7. (Parseval Equality) (see [88]) Let $f \in L_2(0, 2\pi)$, then the following equality holds

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |f(x)|^2 dx = \frac{a_0^2}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_k^2 + b_k^2),$$

where a_0, a_k, b_k are the Fourier coefficients of the function f, e.i. $a_0 = \int_0^{2\pi} f(x) dx$, $a_k = \int_0^{2\pi} f(x) \cos(kx) dx$, $\int_0^{2\pi} f(x) \sin(kx) dx$.

Theorem 1.8. (Nečas Inequality) (see [56]) Let Ω be a bounded domain. If $u \in W_2^{-1}(\Omega)$, $\nabla u \in L_2(\Omega)$, then $u \in L_2(\Omega)$ and the following inequality

$$||u||_{L_2(\Omega)} \le c \Big(||u||_{W_2^{-1}(\Omega)} + ||\nabla u||_{L_2(\Omega)} \Big)$$

holds.

Theorem 1.9. (Gronwall's inequality) (see [26]) Let η be a nonnegative, absolutely continuous function on [0,T] which satisfies for all t the differential inequality

$$\eta'(t) \le \phi(t)\eta(t) + \psi(t),$$

where $\phi(t)$ and $\psi(t)$ are nonnegative, summable functions on [0,T]. Then

$$\eta(t) \le exp\left\{\int_{0}^{t} \phi(s)ds\right\} \left(\eta(0) + \int_{0}^{t} \psi(s)ds\right)$$

for all $0 \le t \le T$.

In particular, if

$$\eta'(t) \le \phi(t)\eta(t)$$
 on $[0,T]$ and $\eta(0) = 0$,

then

$$\eta(t) \equiv 0 \ on \ [0, T].$$

Chapter 2

Channel flow

In this chapter we study the second grade fluid flow problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{u} + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}, \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\
\mathbf{u}|_{S^{T}} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x, 0) = \mathbf{u}_{0}(x),
\end{cases} (2.1)$$

with the prescribed flux condition

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} u_2(x_1, x_2, t) dx_1 = F(t).$$
(2.2)

in the channel $\Pi = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : (x_1, x_2) \in \sigma \times \mathbb{R}\}$, where $\sigma = (-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$. We assume that the initial velocity $\mathbf{u}_0(x)$ and the external force $\mathbf{f}(x, t)$ are independent of the coordinate x_2 and have the forms

$$\mathbf{u}_0(x) = (0, u_0(x_1)), \quad \mathbf{f}(x, t) = (0, f(x_1, t)).$$

Suppose that the following necessary compatibility condition

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} u_0(x_1) dx_1 = F(0) \tag{2.3}$$

holds.

Definition. The solution $(\mathbf{u}(x,t), \widetilde{p}(x,t))$ of problem (2.1), (2.2) such that

$$\mathbf{u}(x,t) = (0, U(x_1,t)),$$

$$\widetilde{p}(x,t) = -q(t)x_2 - \int_{-d/2}^{x_1} U(y,t) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(U(y,t) - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U(y,t)}{\partial y^2} \right) dy + p_0(t),$$
(2.4)

where $p_0(t)$ is an arbitrary function, is called the Poiseuille type solution.

Substituting expressions (2.4) into system (2.1), (2.2) we get, that the first equation in (2.1₁) and the divergence equation (2.1₃) are satisfied identically, while from (2.1₂) and the initial and boundary conditions we get the following inverse problem on $\sigma^T = \sigma \times (0, T)$:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(U - \alpha \frac{\partial^{2} U}{\partial x_{1}^{2}}) - \nu \frac{\partial^{2} U}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} = q(t) + f, \\
U(-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U(\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U(x_{1}, 0) = u_{0}(x_{1}), \\
\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_{1}, t) dx_{1} = F(t).
\end{cases} (2.5)$$

Notice that in (2.5) functions $u_0(x_1)$, $f(x_1,t)$ and F(t) are given, while $U(x_1,t)$ and q(t) are unknown and have to be found.

Denote by $\mathcal{M}(\sigma^T)$ the space of functions u such that $u \in \mathring{W}_2^{1,1}(\sigma^T)$ and $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_1 \partial t} \in L_2(\sigma^T)$.

Definition. By a weak solution of problem (2.5) we understand a couple of functions $(U,q) \in \mathcal{M}(\sigma^T) \times L_2(0,T)$ satisfying for all $t \in [0,T]$ the integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \frac{\partial U(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau} \eta(x_{1}, \tau) dx_{1} d\tau + \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \frac{\partial^{2} U(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}} \frac{\partial \eta(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial x_{1}} dx_{1} d\tau
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \frac{\partial U(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial x_{1}} \frac{\partial \eta(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial x_{1}} dx_{1} d\tau = \int_{0}^{t} q(\tau) \int_{\sigma} \eta(x_{1}, \tau) dx_{1} d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} f(x_{1}, \tau) \eta(x_{1}, \tau) dx_{1} d\tau \quad \forall \eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T}),$$
(2.6)

the initial condition $U(x_1,0) = u_0(x_1)$ and the flux condition (2.5_3) .

2.1 Construction of an approximate solution

We will argue similarly to the case of the Navier-Stokes equations (see [62]).

Let $\lambda_k = \frac{\nu \pi^2 k^2}{d^2}$ and $v_k(x_1) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{d}} \sin \frac{\pi k}{d} (x + \frac{d}{2})$ be eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the Sturm-Liouville problem

$$\begin{cases}
-\nu v_k''(x_1) = \lambda_k v_k(x_1), \\
v_k(-\frac{d}{2}) = v_k(\frac{d}{2}) = 0.
\end{cases}$$
(2.7)

It is well known that the eigenfunctions v_k form a basis in $L_2(\sigma)$, $\mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and $W_2^2(\sigma)$; moreover,

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} v_k(x_1) v_l(x_1) dx_1 = \delta_{kl}, \quad \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} v'_k(x_1) v'_l(x_1) dx_1 = 0, \quad k \neq l,$$
(2.8)

$$\nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |v_k'(x_1)|^2 dx_1 = \lambda_k, \tag{2.9}$$

where δ_{kl} - is the Kroneker delta.

The constant function $h(x_1) \equiv 1$ belongs to the space $L_2(\sigma)$ and therefore, it can be expressed as the Fourier series:

$$1 = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \beta_k v_k(x_1),$$

where $\beta_k = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} v_k(x_1) dx_1 = \frac{\sqrt{2d}}{\pi k} (1 + (-1)^{k+1}), k = 1, 2, ..., \text{ and } \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \beta_k^2 = d. \text{ If } f \in L_2(\sigma^T), u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma), \text{ then}$

$$f(x_1,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k(t)v_k(x_1), \quad u_0(x_1) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k v_k(x_1)$$

with
$$f_k(t) = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} f_2(x_1, t) v_k(x_1) dx_1$$
, $a_k = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} u_0(x_1) v_k(x_1) dx_1$.

An approximate solutions $(U^{(N)}(x_1,t),q^{(N)}(t))$ of problem (2.5) are found as solutions of the following problems

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(U^{(N)} - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1^2} \right) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1^2} = q^{(N)}(t) \sum_{k=1}^N \beta_k v_k(x_1) + \sum_{k=1}^N f_k(t) v_k(x_1), \\
U^{(N)}(-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U^{(N)}(\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U^{(N)}(x_1, 0) = \sum_{k=1}^N a_k v_k(x_1), \\
\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_1, t) dx_1 = F(t).
\end{cases} (2.10)$$

We look for $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ in the form

$$U^{(N)}(x_1,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} w_k^{(N)}(t) v_k(x_1).$$

Substituting $U^{(N)}$ into equation (2.10) we easily find that

$$U^{(N)}(x_1, t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\frac{\nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} \int_0^t e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)} \left(\beta_k q^{(N)}(\tau) + f_k(\tau) \right) d\tau + e^{-\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} t} a_k \right) v_k(x_1).$$
(2.11)

Now, we find $q^{(N)}(t)$, in order to satisfy the flux condition (2.10₃). We have

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_1, t) dx_1 = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_k \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} \int_{0}^{t} e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)} q^{(N)}(\tau) d\tau \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} v_k(x_1) dx_1 + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\frac{\nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} \int_{0}^{t} e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)} f_k(\tau) d\tau + e^{-\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} t} a_k \right) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} v_k(x_1) dx_1 = F(t).$$

Thus, the function $q^{(N)}(t)$ is the solution of the Volterra integral equation of the first kind:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_k^2 \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} \int_0^t e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)} q^{(N)}(\tau) d\tau = F(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\frac{\beta_k \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} \int_0^t e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)} f_k(\tau) d\tau + e^{-\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} t} a_k \beta_k \right).$$
(2.12)

Differentiating equation (2.12) we get the Volterra integral equation of the second kind

$$q^{(N)}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} K^{(N)}(t,\tau)q^{(N)}(\tau)d\tau = \Phi^{(N)}(t), \qquad (2.13)$$

where the kernel $K^{(N)}(t,\tau)$ is given by

$$K^{(N)}(t,\tau) = \frac{1}{\chi_N} \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{\beta_k^2 \lambda_k \nu^2}{(\nu + \alpha \lambda_k)^2} e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)},$$

$$\chi_N = \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{\beta_k^2 \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k},$$
(2.14)

and

$$\Phi^{(N)}(t) = \frac{1}{\chi_N} \Big(F'(t) - \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{\beta_k \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} \frac{d}{dt} \int_0^t e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)} f_k(\tau) d\tau + \sum_{k=1}^N \frac{\beta_k \lambda_k \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} e^{-\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} t} a_k \Big).$$
(2.15)

It is well known that (2.13) admits a unique solution $q^{(N)} \in L_2(0,T)$ and

$$||q^{(N)}||_{L_2(0,T)} \le c_N ||\Phi^{(N)}||_{L_2(0,T)}.$$
 (2.16)

A priori we do not know if the constant c_N is independent of N. Below we will prove that c_N can be taken independently of N.

2.2 A priori estimates

Let us consider a "sufficiently smooth" solution $U(x_1,t)$ of the following initial boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (U - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2}) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2} = M, \\
U(-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U(\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U(x_1, 0) = \varphi(x_1).
\end{cases}$$
(2.17)

Lemma 2.1. Suppose that $M \in L_2(\sigma^T), \varphi \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma) \cap W_2^2(\sigma)$, and let $U \in W_2^{2,1}(\sigma^T)$ be a solution of problem (2.17) such that $\frac{\partial U}{\partial t} \in W_2^2(\sigma^T), \frac{\partial U}{\partial t}\Big|_{\partial \sigma} = 0$. Then the following estimates

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U\|_{W_{2}^{1,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \left\|\frac{\partial U}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \\
\leq c \left(\|M\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\varphi\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2}\right), \tag{2.18}$$

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U\|_{W_{2}^{2,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \left\|\frac{\partial U}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \\
\leq c \left(\|M\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\varphi\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}\right) \tag{2.19}$$

hold.

Proof. Multiply equation (2.17) by $U(x_1,t)$, integrate by parts on the interval $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ and then integrate with respect to t. Using Cauchy, Cauchy-Schwarz and Poincaré-

Friedrichs inequalities we get

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(|U(x_1, t)|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial U(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 d\tau \\
\leq c \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |M(x_1, \tau)|^2 dx_1 d\tau + \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(|\varphi(x_1)|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial \varphi(x_1)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 \right) dx_1.$$
(2.20)

Analogously, multiplying (2.17) by $\frac{\partial U(x_1,t)}{\partial t}$, integrating by parts on the interval $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ and then with respect to time yield the estimate

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\left| \frac{\partial U(x_1, \tau)}{\partial \tau} \right|^2 + 2\alpha \left| \frac{\partial^2 U(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1 \partial \tau} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 d\tau + \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1$$

$$\leq 2 \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |M(x_1, \tau)|^2 dx_1 d\tau + \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial \varphi(x_1)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1.$$
(2.21)

Finally, multiplying (2.17) by $-\frac{\partial^2 U(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}$ and by $-\frac{\partial^3 U(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2 \partial t}$ we derive

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\left| \frac{\partial U(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial^2 U(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 + \nu \int_0^t \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1 d\tau$$

$$\leq c \int_0^t \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |M(x_1, \tau)|^2 dx_1 d\tau + \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\left| \frac{\partial \varphi(x_1)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial^2 \varphi(x_1)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 \tag{2.22}$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\left| \frac{\partial^{2} U(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial x_{1} \partial \tau} \right|^{2} + \frac{\alpha}{2} \left| \frac{\partial^{3} U(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial x_{1}^{2} \partial \tau} \right|^{2} \right) dx_{1} d\tau + \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1}$$

$$\leq c \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |M(x_{1}, \tau)|^{2} dx_{1} d\tau + \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} \varphi(x_{1})}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1}.$$
(2.23)

Estimate (2.18) follows from (2.20), (2.21), while estimate (2.19) - from (2.18), (2.22), (2.23). \square

Consider now the approximate solution $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ of problem (2.5) constructed in Section 2.1. Since $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ is expressed as a finite sum (2.11), it satisfies assumptions of Lemma 2.1 and, therefore, considering $q^{(N)}(t)$ as a given right-hand side, we get the following

Lemma 2.2. For the approximate solution $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ of problem (2.5) the following estimates

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U^{(N)}\|_{W_{2}^{1,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \left\|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \\
\leq c \left(\|f^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|q^{(N)}h^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|u_{0}^{(N)}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2}\right), \tag{2.24}$$

and

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U^{(N)}\|_{W_{2}^{2,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \left\|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \\
\leq c \left(\|f^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|q^{(N)}h^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|u_{0}^{(N)}\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}\right) \tag{2.25}$$

hold. Here $f^{(N)}(x_1,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} f_k(t)v_k(x_1)$, $h^{(N)}(x_1) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \beta_k v_k(x_1)$, $u_0^{(N)}(x_1) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k v_k(x_1)$ and the constants in (2.24) and (2.25) do not depend on N.

Next, we have to estimate the right-hand sides of inequalities (2.24), (2.25). Obviously,

$$||f^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + ||u_0^{(N)}||_{W_2^1(\sigma)}^2 \le c (||f||_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + ||u_0||_{W_2^1(\sigma)}^2),$$

and, if $u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma) \cap W_2^2(\sigma)$, then

$$||u_0^{(N)}||_{W_2^2(\sigma)}^2 \le c||u_0||_{W_2^2(\sigma)}^2.$$

Constants in the last two inequalities are independent of N.

Let us consider the kernel $K^{(N)}(t,\tau)$ of the integral equation (2.13). Denote $\mathbb{Q}^T = (0,T) \times (0,T)$. Then

$$\chi_{N} \| K^{(N)}(t,\tau) \|_{L_{2}(\mathbb{Q}^{T})} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left\| \frac{\beta_{k}^{2} \lambda_{k} \nu^{2}}{(\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k})^{2}} e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}(\tau - t)} \right\|_{L_{2}(\mathbb{Q}^{T})}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{T} \frac{\beta_{k}^{4} \lambda_{k}^{2} \nu^{4}}{(\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k})^{4}} e^{\frac{2\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}(\tau - t)} dt d\tau \right)^{1/2}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}^{2} \nu}{2(\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k})} \sqrt{e^{\frac{-2T\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}} + e^{\frac{2T\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}} - 2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}^{2}}{2} \sqrt{\frac{1 + e^{\frac{4T\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}}}{e^{\frac{2T\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}}}} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}^{2}}{2} \sqrt{\frac{2e^{\frac{4T\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}}}{e^{\frac{2T\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}}}} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}^{2}}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_{k}}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_{k}}} T$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}^{2}}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\frac{\nu}{\alpha}T} \leq \frac{d}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\frac{\nu}{\alpha}T}.$$
(2.26)

Since $\lim_{N\to\infty} \chi_N = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\beta_k^2 \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} = \chi_* < \infty$, the truncated kernels $K^{(N)}(t,\tau)$ converge in the norm of $L_2(\mathbb{Q}_T)$ to

$$K(t,\tau) = \chi_*^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\beta_k^2 \lambda_k \nu^2}{(\nu + \alpha \lambda_k)^2} e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)}.$$

From (2.26) it follows that the constant c_N in inequality (2.16) could be chosen independent of N. Notice that for the Navier-Stokes equations the transacted kernels converge only in the norm of $L_1(\mathbb{Q}_T)$ (see [63], [36]).

The norm of the function $\Phi^{(N)}$ (see (2.15)) can be estimated as follows:

$$\chi_{N} \|\Phi^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} \leq \|F'\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}\nu}{\nu + \alpha\lambda_{k}} \|f_{k}\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}
+ \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}\lambda_{k}\nu^{2}}{(\nu + \alpha\lambda_{k})^{2}} \|\int_{0}^{t} e^{\frac{\lambda_{k}\nu}{\nu + \alpha\lambda_{k}}(\tau - t)} f_{k}(\tau) d\tau \|_{L_{2}(0,T)}
+ \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\beta_{k}\lambda_{k}a_{k}\nu}{(\nu + \alpha\lambda_{k})} \|e^{-\frac{\lambda_{k}\nu}{\nu + \alpha\lambda_{k}}t}\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}
\leq \|F'\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} + \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \beta_{k}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|f_{k}\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}^{2}\right)^{1/2}
+ \frac{\nu}{\alpha} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \beta_{k}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|f_{k}\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}^{2}\right)^{1/2} + \sqrt{\frac{\nu}{\alpha}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \beta_{k}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} a_{k}^{2}\right)^{1/2}
\leq c \left(\|F'\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} + \|f\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})} + \|u_{0}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}\right).$$
(2.27)

Now (2.16), (2.26), (2.27) yield

$$||q^{(N)}||_{L_2(0,T)} \le c(||F'||_{L_2(0,T)} + ||f||_{L_2(\sigma^T)} + ||u_0||_{L_2(\sigma)}).$$
(2.28)

Applying estimate (2.28) together with inequalities (2.24), (2.25) we prove the following

Lemma 2.3. Suppose that $f \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$, $F \in W_2^1(0,T)$. Then for the approximate solution $(U^{(N)}(x_1,t),q^{(N)}(t))$ of problem (2.5) the following estimate

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U^{(N)}\|_{W_{2}^{1,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \left\|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \\
+ \|q^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} \le c \left(\|f\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|F'\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}^{2} + \|u_{0}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2}\right) \tag{2.29}$$

holds. If, in addition $u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma) \cap W_2^2(\sigma)$, then

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U^{(N)}\|_{W_{2}^{2,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \left\|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \\
+ \|q^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} \le c \left(\|f\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|F'\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}^{2} + \|u_{0}\|_{W_{3}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}\right).$$
(2.30)

Let $q \in L_2(0,T)$ be a unique solution of the integral equation

$$q(t) - \int_{0}^{t} K(t,\tau)q(\tau)d\tau = \Phi(t), \qquad (2.31)$$

where

$$\Phi(t) = \frac{1}{\chi_*} \Big(F'(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\beta_k \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} \frac{d}{dt} \int_0^t e^{\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} (\tau - t)} f_k(\tau) d\tau + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\beta_k \lambda_k \nu}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} e^{-\frac{\nu \lambda_k}{\nu + \alpha \lambda_k} t} a_k \Big).$$

Then

$$||q||_{L_2(0,T)} \le c||\Phi||_{L_2(0,T)} \le c(||F'||_{L_2(0,T)} + ||f||_{L_2(\sigma^T)} + ||u_0||_{L_2(\sigma)}).$$
(2.32)

Subtracting the integral equation (2.31) from (2.13) we get

$$q^{(N)}(t) - q(t) - \int_{0}^{t} K^{(N)}(t,\tau)(q^{(N)}(\tau) - q(\tau))d\tau$$

=
$$\int_{0}^{t} (K^{(N)}(t,\tau) - K(t,\tau))q(\tau)d\tau + \Phi^{(N)}(t) - \Phi(t).$$

Applying to the difference $(q^{(N)} - q)$ estimate (2.16) yields

$$\|q^{(N)} - q\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}$$

$$\leq c \Big(\|\int_{0}^{T} (K^{(N)}(t,\tau) - K(t,\tau))q(\tau)d\tau \|_{L_{2}(0,T)} + \|\Phi^{(N)} - \Phi\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} \Big)$$

$$\leq c \Big(\|K^{(N)} - K\|_{L_{2}(\mathbb{Q}^{T})} \|q\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} + \|\Phi^{(N)} - \Phi\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} \Big).$$
(2.33)

Obviously, $\Phi^{(N)} \to \Phi$ in $L_2(0,T)$. Therefore, we can pass in (2.33) to the limit as $N \to \infty$ and we get that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} ||q^{(N)} - q||_{L_2(0,T)} = 0.$$
(2.34)

Remark 2.1. Notice that the integral equation (2.28) gives the relation between the flux F(t) and the pressure drop q(t) (for the Navier-Stokes case see [36].

2.3 Decay of the approximate solution as $t \to \infty$

For simplicity we assume that $f(x_1,t) \equiv 0$. Let $\mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^l(0,\infty), \mu > 0$, be the space of exponentially vanishing functions with the finite norm

$$||F||_{\mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^{l}(0,\infty)} = ||\exp(\mu t)F(t)||_{W_{2}^{l}(0,\infty)}.$$

Lemma 2.4. Let $f(x_1,t) = 0$, $u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and $F \in \mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^1(0,\infty)$ with $\mu > 0$. Then for sufficiently large N the solution $(U^{(N)}(x_1,t),q^{(N)}(t))$ of problem (2.10) satisfies the estimate

$$\exp(\gamma^{*}t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (|U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)|^{2} + \left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}}\right|^{2}) dx_{1}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \exp(\gamma^{*}\tau) \left(\left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial \tau}\right|^{2} + \left|\frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial x_{1}\partial \tau}\right|^{2}\right) dx_{1} d\tau$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \exp(\gamma^{*}\tau) |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau \leq c \left(\|F\|_{\mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^{l}(0,\infty)}^{2} + \|u_{0}\|_{\mathcal{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2}\right),$$
(2.35)

where

$$\gamma_* = \begin{cases} \min(1, 2\mu), & if \min(1, 2\mu) < \frac{\nu \pi^2}{d^2}, \\ \frac{\nu \pi^2}{d^2} - \delta & if \min(1, 2\mu) \ge \frac{\nu \pi^2}{d^2}, \end{cases}$$

 $\delta > 0$ is arbitrary small number. The constant c in (2.35) is independent of t.

Proof. Multiplying equations (2.10) by $U^{(N)}(x',t)$, integrating over $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$, and using Cauchy inequality with ε we derive

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(|U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 + \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1$$

$$= q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_1, t) dx_1 + q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (h^{(N)}(x_1) - 1) U^{(N)}(x_1, t) dx_1$$

$$\leq \varepsilon |q^{(N)}(t)|^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} |F(t)|^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \delta(N) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|^2 dx_1,$$
(2.36)

where
$$\delta(N) = ||h^{(N)} - 1||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 \to 0$$
, $h^{(N)}(x_1) = \sum_{k=1}^N \beta_k v_k(x_1)$.

Analogously, multiplying (2.10) by $\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x',t)}{\partial t}$, we get the inequality (notice that by

construction
$$\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(\pm \frac{d}{2}, t)}{\partial t} = 0$$
):

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1 \partial t} \right|^2 \right) dx_1
+ \frac{\nu}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 \le \varepsilon |q^{(N)}(t)|^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \left| \frac{d}{dt} F(t) \right|^2
+ \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \delta(N) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 dx_1,$$
(2.37)

Let
$$v_0(x_1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d^2}{4} - x_1^2\right)$$
, $\kappa_0 = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} v_0(x_1) dx_1 = \frac{d^3}{12}$. Then
$$-\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} v_0(x_1) dx_1 = -\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_1, t) \frac{\partial^2 v_0(x_1)}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1$$

$$= \int_{d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_1, t) dx_1 = F(t).$$

Therefore, multiplying (2.10) by $v_0(x_1)$ and integrating by parts we obtain

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} v_0(x_1) dx_1 + \alpha \frac{d}{dt} F(t) + \nu F(t) = q^{(N)}(t) \kappa_0 + q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(h^{(N)}(x_1) - 1 \right) v_0(x_1) dx_1.$$

Thus,

$$|q^{(N)}(t)|^{2}\kappa_{0}^{2} \leq c(|F(t)|^{2} + |\frac{d}{dt}F(t)|^{2} + \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial t}\right|^{2} dx_{1} + |q^{(N)}(t)|^{2} ||h^{(N)} - 1||_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2}).$$

$$(2.38)$$

Taking in (2.38) N so that $\delta(N) \leq \kappa_0^2/2$ yields the estimate

$$|q^{(N)}(t)|^2 \le c \left(|F(t)|^2 + \left|\frac{d}{dt}F(t)\right|^2 + \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t}\right|^2 dx_1\right). \tag{2.39}$$

Now, inequalities (2.36), (2.37) and (2.39) give

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(|U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|^2 + (\alpha + \nu) \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 + \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1$$

$$+ \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1 \partial t} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 \le c \left(|F(t)|^2 + \left| \frac{d}{dt} F(t) \right|^2 \right)$$

$$+ c_1 \varepsilon \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 dx_1 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \delta(N) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| U^{(N)}(x_1, t) \right|^2 dx_1$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \delta(N) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 dx_1.$$

Taking in the last inequality $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{4c_1}$ and N so large that $2c_1\delta(N) \leq \frac{1}{4}$, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(|U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|^2 + (\alpha + \nu) \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 \right) dx_1
+ \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 + \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\frac{1}{4} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 dx' \right)
+ \alpha \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1 \partial t} \right|^2 \right) dx_1 \le c \left(|F(t)|^2 + \left| \frac{d}{dt} F(t) \right|^2 \right)
+ 2c_1 \delta(N) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| U^{(N)}(x_1, t) \right|^2 dx_1.$$
(2.40)

Because of the Poincaré-Friedrichs inequality

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |U^{(N)}(x_1,t)|^2 dx_1 \le \frac{d^2}{\nu \pi^2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1,$$

from (2.40) follows (for sufficiently large N) the estimate

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (|U^{(N)}(x_1,t)|^2 + (\alpha+\nu) \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2) dx_1
+ \gamma^* \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (|U^{(N)}(x_1,t)|^2 + (\alpha+\nu) \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2) dx_1
+ \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1 \partial t} \right|^2 \right) dx_1
\leq c (|F(t)|^2 + |\frac{d}{dt} F(t)|^2),$$
(2.41)

where γ^* is defined in the formulation of the lemma. Multiplying (2.41) by $\exp(\gamma^* t)$ and integrating with respect to t we receive the inequality

$$\exp(\gamma^{*}t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (|U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)|^{2} + (\alpha + \nu) \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2}) dx_{1}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \exp(\gamma^{*}t) \left(\frac{1}{2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial \tau} \right|^{2} + \alpha \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial x_{1} \partial \tau} \right|^{2} \right) dx_{1} d\tau$$

$$\leq c \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp(\gamma^{*}\tau) \left(|F(t)|^{2} + \left| \frac{d}{dt} F(t) \right|^{2} \right) dt + c \|u_{0}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2}$$

$$\leq c \left(\|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,\infty)}^{2} + \|u_{0}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2} \right). \tag{2.42}$$

Finally, estimates (2.39) and (2.42) give

$$\int_{0}^{t} \exp(\gamma^* \tau) |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau \le c \left(\|F\|_{\mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^l(0,\infty)}^2 + \|u_0\|_{W_2^1(\sigma)}^2 \right). \tag{2.43}$$

Estimate (2.35) follows from (2.42) and (2.43). \square

2.4 Existence and uniqueness of the solution

Theorem 2.1. Suppose that $f \in L_2(\sigma^T), u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma), F \in W_2^1(0,T)$. Then problem (2.5) admits a unique week solution $(U,q) \in \mathcal{M}(\sigma^T) \times L_2(0,T)$ and the following estimate

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U\|_{W_{2}^{1,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\frac{\partial U}{\partial t}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|q\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} \\
\leq c \left(\|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} + \|f\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|u_{0}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2}\right) \tag{2.44}$$

holds.

If, in addition $u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma) \cap W_2^2(\sigma)$, then $U \in W_2^{2,1}(\sigma^T)$, $\frac{\partial U}{\partial t} \in W_2^2(\sigma^T)$, the equations (2.5) are satisfied almost everywhere in σ^T , and

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U(\cdot,t)\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U\|_{W_{2}^{2,1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \left\|\frac{\partial U}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|q\|_{L_{2}(0,T)} \\
\leq c \left(\|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} + \|f\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|u_{0}\|_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}\right). \tag{2.45}$$

Proof. Multiplying equations (2.10) by arbitrary $\eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})$ and integrating by parts we get the following integral identity

$$\int_{0-d/2}^{t} \int_{0-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,\tau)}{\partial \tau} \eta(x_1,\tau) dx_1 d\tau + \alpha \int_{0-d/2}^{t} \int_{0-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,\tau)}{\partial \tau} \frac{\partial \eta(x_1,\tau)}{\partial x_1} dx_1 d\tau
+ \nu \int_{0-d/2}^{t} \int_{0-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,\tau)}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial \eta(x_1,\tau)}{\partial x_1} dx_1 d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} q^{(N)}(\tau) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} h^{(N)}(x_1) \eta(x_1,\tau) dx_1 d\tau
+ \int_{0-d/2}^{t} \int_{0-d/2}^{d/2} f^{(N)}(x_1,\tau) \eta(x_1,\tau) dx_1 d\tau \quad \forall \eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^T), \quad \forall t \in [0,T].$$
(2.46)

From estimates (2.29) and (2.34) it follows that there is a subsequence $\{(U^{(N_l)}, q^{(N_l)})\}$ such that

$$\begin{split} &U^{(N_l)}(\cdot,t) \to U(\cdot,t) \quad \text{in} \quad W_2^1(\sigma) \ \forall t \in [0,T], \\ &U^{(N_l)} \to U, \quad \frac{\partial U^{(N_l)}}{\partial x_1} \to \frac{\partial U}{\partial x_1}, \quad \frac{\partial U^{(N_l)}}{\partial t} \to \frac{\partial U}{\partial t}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N_l)}}{\partial x_1 \partial t} \to \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1 \partial t} \quad \text{in} \quad L_2(\sigma^T). \\ &q^{(N_l)} \to q \quad \text{in} \quad L_2(0,T). \end{split}$$

Passing to a limit in (2.46) we get for U and q integral identity (2.6). Obviously, U satisfies the flux condition (2.5_3) and the initial condition. Moreover, from inequality (2.29) we get for (U, q) estimate (2.44).

Let $u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma) \cap W_2^2(\sigma)$. Then, because of inequality (2.30), the subsequence $\{(U^{(N_l)}, q^{(N_l)})\}$ could be chosen so that in addition

$$\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N_l)}(\cdot,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \to \frac{\partial^2 U(\cdot,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \quad \text{in} \quad W_2^1(\sigma) \quad \forall t \in [0,T],$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N_l)}}{\partial x_1^2} \to \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2}, \quad \frac{\partial^3 U^{(N_l)}}{\partial x_1^2 \partial t} \to \frac{\partial^3 U}{\partial x_1^2 \partial t} \quad \text{in} \quad L_2(\sigma^T),$$

and, obviously, for (U,q) estimate (2.45) holds. Integrating by parts we get the identity

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \left(U - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2} \right) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2} - q(t) - f \right) \eta dx_1 d\tau = 0 \quad \forall \eta \in \mathring{W}_2^{1,0}(\sigma^T).$$

Therefore, (U,q) satisfy equations (2.5) almost everywhere in σ^T .

Let us prove the uniqueness. Let $(U^{[1]}(x_1,t),q^{[1]}(t))$ and $(U^{[2]}(x_1,t),q^{[2]}(t))$ be two weak solutions of problem (2.5). The difference $(V,s)=(U^{[1]}-U^{[2]},q^{[1]}-q^{[2]})$ satisfies

the integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial V(x_1, \tau)}{\partial \tau} \eta(x_1, \tau) dx_1 d\tau + \alpha \int_{0}^{T} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial^2 V(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1 \partial \tau} \frac{\partial \eta(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1} dx_1 d\tau
+ \nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial V(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1} \cdot \frac{\partial \eta(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1} dx_1 d\tau = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \eta(x_1, \tau) dx_1 d\tau \quad \forall \eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^T).$$

Take $\eta(x_1, t) = V(x_1, t)$. Since $\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} V(x_1, t) dx_1 = 0$ and $V(x_1, 0) = 0$, we obtain

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |V(x_1, t)|^2 dx_1 + \alpha \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial V(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 + 2\nu \int_0^T \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial V(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 d\tau = 0.$$

Therefore, $V(x_1,t)=0$. Taking in the identity (2.6) $\eta(x',t)$ such that $\int_{\sigma} \eta(x',t) dx' = q(t)$ we get $\int_{0}^{t} |q(\tau)|^2 d\tau = 0$. Hence, q(t)=0. \square

From the estimate (2.35) for the approximate solution $(U^{(N)}, q^{(N)})$ (see Lemma 2.4) follows the following result.

Theorem 2.2. Let $f(x_1,t) = 0$, $u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and $F \in \mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^1(0,\infty)$ with $\mu > 0$. Then the solution (U,q) of problem (2.5) satisfies the estimate

$$\exp(\gamma^{*}t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (|U(x_{1},t)|^{2} + \left|\frac{\partial U(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}}\right|^{2}) dx_{1}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \exp(\gamma^{*}t) \left(\left|\frac{\partial U(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial \tau}\right|^{2} + \left|\frac{\partial^{2} U(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial x_{1} \partial \tau}\right|^{2}\right) dx_{1} d\tau$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \exp(\gamma^{*}\tau) |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau \leq c \left(\|F\|_{\mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^{l}(0,\infty)}^{2} + \|u_{0}\|_{\mathcal{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma)}^{2}\right),$$
(2.47)

where

$$\gamma_* = \begin{cases} \min(1, 2\mu), & \text{if } \min(1, 2\mu) < \frac{\nu \pi^2}{d^2}, \\ \frac{\nu \pi^2}{d^2} - \delta & \text{if } \min(1, 2\mu) \ge \frac{\nu \pi^2}{d^2}, \end{cases}$$

 $\delta > 0$ is an arbitrary small number.

Chapter 3

Rotational pipe flow

Analogous results, as in Chapter 2 for the flow in channels, can be obtained in the threedimensional case when the flow domain is an infinite pype $\Pi = \{x = (x', x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : (x', x_3) \in \sigma \times \mathbb{R}\}$ with the circular cross-section $\sigma = \{x' : |x'| < 1\}$. Consider in the pipe Π the second grade fluid flow problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{u} + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}, \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\
\mathbf{u}|_{S^T} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x, 0) = \mathbf{u}_0(x),
\end{cases} (3.1)$$

with additionally prescribed flux condition

$$\int_{\sigma} u_3(x', x_3, t) dx' = F(t). \tag{3.2}$$

Suppose that the initial velocity $\mathbf{u}_0(x)$ and the right-hand side $\mathbf{f}(x,t)$ are axially symmetric, independent of the coordinate z and have the forms

$$\mathbf{u}_0(x) = (0, 0, u_{z0}(r)), \quad \mathbf{f}(x, t) = (0, 0, f_z(r, t)), \tag{3.3}$$

where (r, φ, z) are cylindrical coordinates in \mathbb{R}^3 . Moreover, suppose that there holds the compatibility condition:

$$2\pi \int_{0}^{R} r u_{z0}(r) dr = F(0). \tag{3.4}$$

We look for a axially symmetric solution of problem (3.1), (3.2) such that

$$\mathbf{u}(r,\varphi,z,t) = (0,0,U(r,t)),$$

$$\widetilde{p}(r,\varphi,z,t) = \widetilde{p}(r,z,t).$$
(3.5)

Substituting expressions (3.5) into (3.1), (3.2) yields

$$\begin{cases}
-2\alpha \frac{\partial U}{\partial r} \frac{\partial^{2} U}{\partial r^{2}} - \alpha \frac{1}{r} \left(\frac{\partial U}{\partial r}\right)^{2} + \frac{\partial \widetilde{p}}{\partial r} = 0, \\
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(U - \alpha \left(\frac{\partial^{2} U}{\partial r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial U}{\partial r}\right)\right) - \nu \left(\frac{\partial^{2} U}{\partial r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial U}{\partial r}\right) + \frac{\partial \widetilde{p}}{\partial z} = f_{z}, \\
U(0, t) = U(R, t) = 0, \quad U(r, 0) = u_{z0}(r), \\
2\pi \int_{0}^{R} rU(r, t) dr = F(t).
\end{cases} (3.6)$$

From (3.6_1) it follows that

$$\widetilde{p}(r,z,t) = -q(t)z + \alpha \int_{0}^{r} \frac{1}{y} \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(y \left(\frac{\partial U(y,t)}{\partial y} \right)^{2} \right) dy + p_{0}(t), \tag{3.7}$$

and we get for (U,q) the inverse problem on the cross-section σ

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(U - \alpha \left(\frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial U}{\partial r} \right) \right) - \nu \left(\frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial U}{\partial r} \right) = q(t) + f_z, \\
U(0, t) = U(R, t) = 0, \quad U(r, 0) = u_{z0}(r), \\
2\pi \int_0^R r U(r, t) dr = F(t).
\end{cases} (3.8)$$

Deffinition. The solution $(\mathbf{u}(r,\varphi,z,t), \widetilde{p}(r,\varphi,z,t))$ of problem (3.1), (3.2) having the form (3.5), (3.7) is called the Poiseuille type solution.

Problem (3.8) could be studied just in the same way as the two-dimensional problem (2.5). The only difference is that as the basis in $L_2(\sigma)$ we take the eigenvalues $v_k \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ of the Laplace operator $\Delta' = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r}$:

$$\begin{cases} -\nu \triangle' v_k = \lambda_k v_k, & x' \in \sigma, \\ v_k|_{\partial \sigma} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Note, that $v_k(r) = J_0(\frac{\mu_k r}{R})/(\int_0^R r J_0^2(\frac{\mu_k r}{R}) dr)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, $\lambda_k = (\frac{\mu_k}{k})^2$, where J_0 is the Bessel func-

tion and μ_k are the roots of the equation $J_0(\mu) = 0$ (see, for example, [5]).

Definition. The pair $(U,q) \in \mathcal{M}(\sigma^T) \times L_2(0,T)$ is called the week solution of problem (3.8) if it satisfies the integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{\partial U(r,\tau)}{\partial \tau} \eta(r,\tau) dr d\tau + \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{\partial^{2} U(r,\tau)}{\partial \tau \partial r} \left(\frac{\partial \eta(r,\tau)}{\partial r} - \frac{1}{r} \eta(r,\tau) \right) dr d\tau
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{R} \frac{\partial U(r,\tau)}{\partial r} \left(\frac{\partial \eta(r,\tau)}{\partial r} - \frac{1}{r} \eta(r,\tau) \right) dr d\tau = \int_{0}^{t} q(\tau) \int_{0}^{R} \eta(r,\tau) dr d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{R} f_{z}(r,\tau) \eta(r,\tau) dr d\tau \quad \forall \eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T}),$$

the initial condition $U(r,0) = u_{z0}(r)$ and the flux condition (3.8₃).

There holds the following theorems.

Theorem 3.1. Suppose that $f_z \in L_2(\sigma^T), u_{z0} \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma), F \in W_2^1(0,T)$. Then problem (3.8) admits a unique week solution $(U,q) \in \mathcal{M}(\sigma^T) \times L_2(0,T)$ and the following estimate

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U(\cdot,t)\|_{W_2^1(\sigma)}^2 + \|U\|_{W_2^{1,1}(\sigma^T)}^2 + \left\|\frac{\partial U}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_2^1(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|q\|_{L_2(0,T)} \\
\leq c \left(\|F\|_{W_2^1(0,T)}^2 + \|f_z\|_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|u_{z0}\|_{W_2^1(\sigma)}^2\right)$$

holds.

If, in addition $u_{z0} \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma) \cap W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)$, then $U \in W_{2}^{2,1}(\sigma^{T})$, $\frac{\partial U}{\partial t} \in W_{2}^{2}(\sigma^{T})$, the equations (3.8) are satisfied almost everywhere in σ^{T} , and

$$\max_{t \in [0,T]} \|U(\cdot,t)\|_{W_2^2(\sigma)}^2 + \|U\|_{W_2^{2,1}(\sigma^T)}^2 + \left\|\frac{\partial U}{\partial t}\right\|_{W_2^2(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|q\|_{L_2(0,T)} \\
\leq c \left(\|F\|_{W_2^1(0,T)}^2 + \|f_z\|_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|u_{z0}\|_{W_2^2(\sigma)}^2\right).$$

Theorem 3.2. Let $f_z(r,t) = 0$, $u_{z0} \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and $F \in \mathcal{W}_{2,\mu}^1(0,\infty)$ with $\mu > 0$. Then the solution (U,q) of problem (3.8) satisfies the estimate

$$\begin{split} &\exp(\gamma^*t)\int\limits_0^R \left(|U(r,t)|^2 + \left|\frac{\partial U(r,t)}{\partial r}\right|^2\right)rdr \\ &+ \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_0^R \exp(\gamma^*\tau) \left(\left|\frac{\partial U(r,\tau)}{\partial \tau}\right|^2 + \left|\frac{\partial^2 U(r,\tau)}{\partial r\partial \tau}\right|^2\right)rdrd\tau + \int\limits_0^t \exp(\gamma^*\tau)|q^{(N)}(\tau)|^2d\tau \\ &\leq c \left(\|F\|_{\mathcal{W}^l_{2,\mu}(0,\infty)}^2 + \|u_{z0}\|_{W^1_2(\sigma)}^2\right), \end{split}$$

where

$$\gamma_* = \begin{cases} \min(1, 2\mu), & \text{if } \min(1, 2\mu) < \mu_1^2, \\ \mu_1^2 - \delta, & \text{if } \min(1, 2\mu) \ge \mu_1^2, \end{cases}$$

 μ_1 is the first positive root of the equation $J_0(\mu)=0,\ \delta>0$ is an arbitrary small number.

The proofs of these theorems are exactly the same as for the two-dimensional case.

Remark 3.1. In Chapter 4 we study the three-dimensional problem for a non-symmetrical case (i.e., when the cross-section σ is an arbitrary bounded domain). In this case problem (3.1), (3.2) does not have the unidirectional solution and the velocity field has all three components.

Chapter 4

Time periodic channel flow

In the infinite channel $\Pi = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : (x_1, x_2) \in (-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times \mathbb{R}\}$ we consider time-periodic (without loss of generality we assume that the period is equal to 2π) second grade fluid flow problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{u} + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}, \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\
\mathbf{u}|_{\partial \Pi \times (0, 2\pi)} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x, 0) = \mathbf{u}(x, 2\pi),
\end{cases} (4.1)$$

with the prescribed periodic flux

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} u_2(x,t) = F(t), \quad F(0) = F(2\pi). \tag{4.2}$$

We look for the Poiseuille type solution $(\mathbf{u}(x,t), \widetilde{p}(x,t))$ of system (4.1), (4.2) in the form

$$\mathbf{u}(x,t) = (0, U(x_1,t)),$$

$$\widetilde{p}(x,t) = -q(t)x_2 - \int_{-d/2}^{x_1} U(y,t) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(U(y,t) - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U(y,t)}{\partial y^2} \right) dy + p_0(t),$$
(4.3)

where $p_0(t)$ is an arbitrary function, while $U(x_1,t)$ and q(t) are time-periodic functions

$$U(x_1, 0) = U(x_1, 2\pi), \quad q(0) = q(2\pi).$$

As in Chapter 2, the first equation in (4.1_1) and the divergence equation (4.1_3) are sat-

is field identically, while from (4.1_2) and the boundary conditions we receive the following inverse problem on the interval $\left(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}\right)$:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(U - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2}) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2} = q(t), \\
U(-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U(\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U(x_1, 0) = U(x_1, 2\pi), \\
\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1, t) dx_1 = F(t).
\end{cases} (4.4)$$

4.1 Direct problem

First, we assume, that the function q(t) is known and we study the following direct problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(U - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2}) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial x_1^2} = q(t), \\
U(-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U(\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U(x_1, 0) = U(x_1, 2\pi).
\end{cases} (4.5)$$

Theorem 4.1. Let $q \in L_2(0, 2\pi)$ is 2π -periodic function. Then problem (4.5) admits the unique 2π -periodic solution $U \in W_2^{2,1}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))$ and the following estimate

$$||U||_{W_{2}^{2,1}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))} + \left\|\frac{\partial U}{\partial x_{1}}\right\|_{W_{2}^{1,1}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))} + \left\|\frac{\partial^{3} U}{\partial t \partial x_{1}^{2}}\right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))} \leq c||q||_{L_{2}(0,2\pi)}$$

$$(4.6)$$

holds.

Proof. Any 2π -periodic function from $L_2(0, 2\pi)$ can be expressed by a Fourier series, therefore,

$$q(t) = \frac{q_0^{(c)}}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (q_n^{(c)}\cos(nt) + q_n^{(s)}\sin(nt)). \tag{4.7}$$

We look for the approximate solution $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ in the form

$$U^{(N)}(x_1,t) = \frac{\varphi_0(x_1)}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\varphi_n(x_1)\cos(nt) + \psi_n(x_1)\sin(nt)), \tag{4.8}$$

where coefficients $\varphi_n(x_1)$ and $\psi_n(x_1)$, n = 0, 1, ..., N, are found from the equations

$$\begin{cases}
(\nu^2 + \alpha^2 n^2)\varphi_n'' - \alpha n^2 \varphi_n - n\nu \psi_n = \alpha n q_n^{(s)} - \nu q_n^{(c)}, & x_1 \in \sigma \\
(\nu^2 + \alpha^2 n^2)\psi_n'' - \alpha n^2 \psi_n + n\nu \varphi_n = -\nu q_n^{(s)} - \alpha n q_n^{(c)}, & x_1 \in \sigma \\
\varphi_n|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, & \psi_n|_{\partial \sigma} = 0,
\end{cases} (4.9)$$

$$n = 1, 2, ..., N, \varphi_0 = \frac{q_0^{(c)}}{8\nu} (d^2 - 4x_1^2).$$

Obviously, (4.9) is a strongly elliptic system. Let us show that it has only one solution. Let (φ_n, ψ_n) be the solution of the homogeneous system (4.9). Multiply the first equality of system (4.9) by $\psi_n(x_1)$, the second one by $\varphi_n(x_1)$ and then integrate them by parts on σ . Summing these equations yields

$$\nu \int_{\sigma} |\varphi'_n(x_1)|^2 dx_1 + \nu \int_{\sigma} |\psi'_n(x_1)|^2 dx_1 = 0.$$

Thus, $\varphi_n(x_1) = 0$, $\psi_n(x_1) = 0$ and from the theory of elliptic systems (see, for example, [17], [26]) we conclude, that for all $n \ge 1$ there exist just one solution $(\varphi_n, \psi_n) \in W_2^2(\sigma) \cap \dot{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ of the non-homogeneous problem (4.9).

Denote

$$q^{(N)}(t) = \frac{q_0^{(c)}}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{N} (q_n^{(c)}\cos(nt) + q_n^{(s)}\sin(nt)). \tag{4.10}$$

It is easy to calculate that the approximate solution $(U^{(N)}, q^{(N)})$ (see (4.8), (4.9)) is a solution of the following problem:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (U^{(N)} - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1^2}) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1^2} = q^{(N)}(t), \\
U^{(N)}(-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U^{(N)}(\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U^{(N)}(x_1, 0) = U^{(N)}(x_1, 2\pi).
\end{cases} (4.11)$$

Multiplying equality (4.11₁) by $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ and integrating by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ yield

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|^2 dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 + \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 = q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_1, t) dx_1.$$

Integrate the latter identity with respect to t from 0 to 2π . Using the periodicity condition (4.11₂), Cauchy-Schwarz and Poincaré-Friedrichs inequalities we obtain

$$\nu \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} q^{(N)}(t) U^{(N)}(x_{1},t) dx_{1} dt
\leq \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |q^{(N)}(t)|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2}
\leq c ||q^{(N)}||_{L_{2}(0,2\pi)} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2}
\leq c ||q||_{L_{2}(0,2\pi)} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2} .$$

Thus,

$$\nu \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right\|_{L_2((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))} \le c ||q||_{L_2(0, 2\pi)}. \tag{4.12}$$

Multiply now equality (4.11₁) by $\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}$ and integrate by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$. Using (4.11₂) we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1 + \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1 = -q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1.$$

This equality yields

$$\nu \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} q^{(N)}(t) \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} dx_{1} dt \\
\leq \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |q^{(N)}(t)|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2} \\
\leq c ||q^{(N)}||_{L_{2}(0, 2\pi)} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2} \\
\leq c ||q||_{L_{2}(0, 2\pi)} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2} \\
\leq c ||q||_{L_{2}(0, 2\pi)} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt \right)^{1/2}.$$

Thus, the following estimate

$$\nu \left\| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right\|_{L_2((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))} \le c ||q||_{L_2(0, 2\pi)}$$
(4.13)

holds.

The next step is to estimate $W_2^1(\sigma)$ - norm of $U^{(N)}(x_1,0)$. Let us multiply equation (4.11₁) by $tU^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ and integrate by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$. Using the boundary condition (4.11₂) and the following identities

$$2t\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial t}U^{(N)}(x_1,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(t|U^{(N)}(x_1,t)|^2) - |U^{(N)}(x_1,t)|^2,$$

$$t\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1}\right|^2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(t\left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1}\right|^2) - \left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1}\right|^2,$$

we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} t |U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|^2 dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} t \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1
+ \nu t \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 = t q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_1, t) dx_1
+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|^2 dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1.$$

Integrating the last equality by t from 0 to 2π and using Poincaré-Friedrichs and (4.12) inequalities we derive

$$\frac{\pi}{\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}} |U^{(N)}(x_{1}, 2\pi)|^{2} dx_{1} + \alpha \pi \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1}, 2\pi)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} + \nu \int_{0}^{2\pi} t \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} t q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t) dx_{1} dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)|^{2} dx_{1} dt + \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt$$

$$\leq 2\pi c ||q^{(N)}||_{L_{2}(0, 2\pi)} \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + c$$

Further, multiplying equation (4.11₁) by $t \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t}$, integrating by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$ and over t from 0 to 2π yields

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} t \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \right|^2 dx_1 dt + \alpha \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} t \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t \partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 dt
+ \pi \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, 2\pi)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} t q^{(N)}(t) \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial t} dx_1 dt$$

$$+\frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt \leq c ||q^{(N)}||_{L_{2}(0,2\pi)}^{2}$$

$$+\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} t \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial t} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt + c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))}^{2}$$

$$\leq c ||q||_{L_{2}(0,2\pi)}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} t \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial t} \right|^{2} dx_{1} dt.$$

$$(4.15)$$

From (4.14) and (4.15) we obtain that

$$||U^{(N)}(\cdot,2\pi)||_{W_2^1(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 \le c||q||_{L_2(0,2\pi)}^2.$$

Multiplying equation (4.11₁) by $t \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}$, integrating by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$, using the boundary condition (4.11₂) and the identity

$$2t\frac{\partial^3 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial t \partial x_1^2} \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(t \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 \right) - \left(\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right)^2,$$

we get

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}t\Big|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1}\Big|^2dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}t\Big|\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}\Big|^2dx_1 \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{2}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\Big|\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}\Big|^2dx_1 + \nu t\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\Big|\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}\Big|^2dx_1 \\ &= -tq^{(N)}(t)\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}dx_1 + \frac{1}{2}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\Big|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1}\Big|^2dx_1. \end{split}$$

From the last inequality it follows that

$$\frac{\pi}{\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, 2\pi)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 + \alpha \pi \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, 2\pi)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1
+ \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{0-d/2}^{2\pi} \int_{0-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1 dt + \nu \int_{0}^{2\pi} t \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1 dt
= - \int_{0}^{2\pi} t q^{(N)}(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1 dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0-d/2}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 dt
\leq 2\pi c ||q^{(N)}||_{L_2(0, 2\pi)} \left\| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1^2} \right\|_{L_2((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}
+ c \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1} \right\|_{L_2((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^2 \leq c ||q||_{L_2(0, 2\pi)}^2.$$
(4.16)

Hence,

$$\left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(\cdot, 2\pi)}{\partial x_1} \right\|_{W_2^1(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})}^2 \le c||q||_{L_2(0, 2\pi)}^2.$$

Because of the periodicity condition, the following two inequalities are valid

$$||U^{(N)}(\cdot,0)||_{W_2^1(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 \le c||q||_{L_2(0,2\pi)}^2, \tag{4.17}$$

$$\left\| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(\cdot,0)}{\partial x_1^2} \right\|_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 \le c||q||_{L_2(0,2\pi)}^2. \tag{4.18}$$

Now, $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ can be interpretated as a solution of the initial-boundary value problem (4.11₁) with the initial condition $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)|_{t=0} = U^{(N)}(x_1,0)$:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (U^{(N)} - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1^2}) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1^2} = q^{(N)}(t), \\
U^{(N)}(-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U^{(N)}(\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U^{(N)}(x_1, t)|_{t=0} = U^{(N)}(x_1, 0).
\end{cases} (4.19)$$

Multiply equation (4.19₁) by $U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$ and integrate by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ and by τ from 0 to t:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}|U^{(N)}(x_1,t)|^2dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1}\right|^2dx_1 + \nu\int_0^t\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,\tau)}{\partial x_1}\right|^2dx_1d\tau \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}|U^{(N)}(x_1,0)|^2dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2}\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,0)}{\partial x_1}\right|^2dx_1 + \int_0^t\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}q^{(N)}(\tau)U^{(N)}(x_1,\tau)dx_1d\tau \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}||U^{(N)}(x_1,0)||^2_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})} + \frac{\alpha}{2}\left\|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,0)}{\partial x_1}\right\|^2_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})} \\ &+||q^{(N)}||_{L_2(0,2\pi)}(\int_0^t\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}|U^{(N)}(x_1,\tau)dx_1d\tau)^{1/2} \leq c||q||^2_{L_2(0,2\pi)} + \frac{\nu}{2}\int_0^t\int_{-d/2}^{d/2}\left|\frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1,\tau)}{\partial x_1}\right|^2dx_1d\tau. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\sup_{t \in [0,2\pi]} ||U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)||_{L_{2}(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^{2} + \alpha \sup_{t \in [0,2\pi]} \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^{2} + \nu \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2}) \times (0,2\pi))}^{2} \le c||q||_{L_{2}(0,2\pi)}^{2}.$$

$$(4.20)$$

In the same way, multiplying equation (4.19₁) by $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}U^{(N)}(x_1,t)$, integrating by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ and by τ from 0 to t, we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau} \right|^{2} dx_{1} d\tau + \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} d\tau
+ \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} q^{(N)}(\tau) \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau} dx_{1} d\tau
+ \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} \le c ||q||_{L_{2}(0, 2\pi)}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_{1}, \tau)}{\partial \tau} \right|^{2} dx_{1} d\tau.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned}
& \sup_{t \in [0,2\pi]} \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)}{\partial x_1} \right\|_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial t} \right\|_{L_2((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))}^2 \\
& + \alpha \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}}{\partial x_1} \right\|_{L_2((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))}^2 \le c ||q||_{L_2(0,2\pi)}^2.
\end{aligned} \tag{4.21}$$

Now, multiplying equation (4.19₁) by $\frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2}$, integrating by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ and by τ from 0 to t, using the boundary condition and the inequalities (4.17), (4.18) we derive

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1 d\tau = - \int_{0}^{t} q(\tau) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1 d\tau
+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, 0)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 + \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, 0)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1
\leq c ||q||_{L_2(0, 2\pi)}^2 + \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1, \tau)}{\partial x_1^2} \right|^2 dx_1 d\tau.$$

Thus, the following inequality

$$\sup_{t \in [0,2\pi]} \left\| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(\cdot,t)}{\partial x_1} \right\|_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + \alpha \sup_{t \in [0,2\pi]} \left\| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right\|_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2}))}^2 + \left\| \frac{\partial^2 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right\|_{L_2((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))}^2 \le c ||q||_{L_2(0,2\pi)}^2$$
(4.22)

holds.

Next, multiply equation (4.19₁) by $\frac{\partial^3 U^{(N)}(x_1,t)}{\partial \tau \partial x_1^2}$, integrate by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ and by τ from 0 to t. Using the boundary condition and inequalities (4.17), (4.18) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} d\tau + \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{3} U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} d\tau \\ &+ \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1},t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} = - \int_{0}^{t} q(\tau) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial^{3} U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}^{2}} dx_{1} d\tau \\ &+ \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1},0)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right| dx_{1} \leq c ||q||_{L_{2}(0,2\pi)}^{2} + \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial^{3} U^{(N)}(x_{1},\tau)}{\partial \tau \partial x_{1}^{2}} \right|^{2} dx_{1} d\tau. \end{split}$$

From the latter inequality it follows that

$$\left\| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial t \partial x_{1}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} + \nu \sup_{t \in [0, 2\pi]} \left\| \frac{\partial^{2} U^{(N)}(\cdot, t)}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} \right\|_{L(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})}^{2} + \alpha \left\| \frac{\partial^{3} U^{(N)}(x_{1}, t)}{\partial t \partial x_{1}^{2}} \right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi))}^{2} \leq c \|q\|_{L_{2}(0, 2\pi)}^{2}.$$

$$(4.23)$$

From inequalities (4.12), (4.23) we conclude that the sequence $\{U^{(N)}\}$ is bounded in the space $W_2^{2,1}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))$ and $\{\frac{\partial^3 U^{(N)}}{\partial t\partial^2 x_1}\}$ is bounded in the space $L_2((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))$. Therefore, there exists subsequence $\{U^{(N_l)}\}$ such that

$$U^{(N_l)} \to U \quad \text{in} \quad W_2^{2,1}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi)),$$

$$\frac{\partial^3 U^{(N)}}{\partial t \partial^2 x_1} \to \frac{\partial^3 U}{\partial t \partial^2 x_1} \quad \text{in} \quad L_2((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi)).$$

Obviously, the limit function U is the week solution of problem (4.5). Moreover, the inequality (4.6) remains valid.

Let us prove that the solution is unique. Take q(t) = 0. Repeating the proof of inequality (4.12) we get

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U^{(N)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 dt = 0.$$

Hence, $U(x_1,t)=0.\square$

4.2 Relationship between the flux and the gradient of the pressure

The arguments of this section are similar to that of Galdi and Robertson in [37] for the Navier-Stokes equations. We show the relationship between the flux F(t) and the gradient of the pressure q(t). Consider the following problems

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (U_n^{(c)} - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U_n^{(c)}}{\partial x_1^2}) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U_n^{(c)}}{\partial x_1^2} = \cos(nt), \\
U_n^{(c)} (-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U_n^{(c)} (\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U_n^{(c)} (x_1, 0) = U_n^{(c)} (x_1, 2\pi),
\end{cases} (4.24)$$

and

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (U_n^{(s)} - \alpha \frac{\partial^2 U_n^{(s)}}{\partial x_1^2}) - \nu \frac{\partial^2 U_n^{(s)}}{\partial x_1^2} = \sin(nt), \\
U_n^{(s)} (-\frac{d}{2}, t) = U_n^{(s)} (\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad U_n^{(s)} (x_1, 0) = U_n^{(s)} (x_1, 2\pi).
\end{cases}$$
(4.25)

The solutions of problems (4.24) and (4.25) are:

$$U_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) = \varphi_n(x_1)\cos(nt) - \psi_n(x_1)\sin(nt) U_n^{(s)}(x_1, t) = \psi_n(x_1)\cos(nt) + \varphi_n(x_1)\sin(nt),$$
(4.26)

where pairs $(\varphi_n(x_1), \psi_n(x_1))$ are the solutions of the following systems

$$\begin{cases}
-n\psi_n - \alpha n\psi_n'' - \nu\varphi_n'' = 1 \\
-n\varphi_n + \alpha n\varphi_n'' + \nu\psi_n'' = 0
\end{cases}$$

$$\varphi_n(-\frac{d}{2}) = \varphi_n(\frac{d}{2}) = 0$$

$$\psi_n(-\frac{d}{2}) = \psi_n(\frac{d}{2}) = 0$$

$$(4.27)$$

According to Theorem 4.1, problem (4.27) has the unique solution $(\varphi_n, \psi_n) \in W_2^2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$ for all $n \geq 0$.

Let us define

$$a_n = \int_{\sigma} \varphi_n(x_1) dx_1, \quad b_n = -\int_{\sigma} \psi_n(x_1) dx_1, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (4.28)

Lemma 4.1. Let $(\varphi_n, \psi_n) \in W_2^2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$ be the solutions of systems (4.27).

Then the inequalities

$$\nu||\varphi_n''||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + \nu||\psi_n''||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 \le \frac{d}{\nu}, \quad \forall n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

$$(4.29)$$

hold. Moreover, the numbers a_n and b_n satisfies the properties

(a)
$$a_n > 0$$
, $\forall n = 0, 1, 2, ...$; $b_0 = 0, b_n > 0$, $\forall n = 1, 2, ...$;

(b)
$$a_n \leq \frac{d}{n}$$
, $b_n \leq \frac{d}{n}$, $\forall n = 1, 2, ...;$

(c)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (nb_n) = d.$$

Proof. Multiplying (4.27₁) by $\varphi''_n(x_1)$, (4.27₂) by $\psi''_n(x_1)$, integrating on $(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$ and summing the obtained equations, we get

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left(n\psi_n(x_1)\varphi_n''(x_1) - n\varphi_n(x_1)\psi_n''(x_1) \right) dx_1 + \nu ||\varphi_n''(x_1)||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2$$

$$+\nu ||\psi_n''(x_1)||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 = -\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \varphi_n''(x_1) dx_1.$$

Integrating by parts yields

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (n\psi_n(x_1)\varphi_n''(x_1) - n\varphi_n(x_1)\psi_n''(x_1)) dx_1$$

$$= \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} (-n\psi_n'(x_1)\varphi_n'(x_1) + n\varphi_n'(x_1)\psi_n'(x_1)) dx_1 = 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\nu ||\varphi_n''(x_1)||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + \nu ||\psi_n''(x_1)||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 = -\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \varphi_n''(x_1) dx_1
\leq \frac{\nu}{2} ||\varphi_n''(x_1)||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + \frac{d}{2\nu}.$$

Obviously, from the last inequality follows (4.29).

Next, let us multiply (4.27₁) by $\psi_n(x_1)$, (4.27₂) by $\varphi_n(x_1)$ and integrate by parts on $(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$:

$$-n||\psi_n||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 = \alpha \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |\psi_n'|^2 dx_1 - \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \psi_n' \varphi_n' dx_1 - b_n,$$

$$-n||\varphi_n||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 = \alpha \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} |\varphi_n'|^2 dx_1 + \nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \psi_n' \varphi_n' dx_1.$$

Summing these equations we get

$$b_n = n\left(||\varphi_n||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + ||\psi_n||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2\right) + \alpha\left(||\psi_n'||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + ||\varphi_n'||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2\right). \tag{4.30}$$

If (4.27_1) is multiplied by $\varphi_n(x_1)$ and (4.27_2) by $\psi_n(x_1)$, then analogously as for b_n we obtain

$$a_n = \nu \left(||\psi_n'||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 + ||\varphi_n'||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})}^2 \right). \tag{4.31}$$

Since the solution of problem (4.27) can not be identically to zero, from (4.30) and (4.31) follows the property (a).

Using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality from (4.28) we get

$$a_n \le \sqrt{d} ||\varphi_n||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})}, \quad b_n \le \sqrt{d} ||\psi_n||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (4.32)

The property (b) follows from (4.30) and (4.32).

According to (4.30) and (4.32) we get

$$n||\psi_n||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})} \le \sqrt{d}, \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (4.33)

From (4.31) and (4.32) we obtain

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} ||\varphi_n'||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})} = 0, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} ||\psi_n'||_{L_2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})} = 0. \tag{4.34}$$

Let us multiply (4.27₁) by $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$ and integrate over $(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})$:

$$-n \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \psi_n(x_1) \chi(x_1) dx_1 = \alpha n \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \psi'_n(x_1) \chi'(x_1) dx_1$$
$$+\nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \varphi'_n(x_1) \chi'(x_1) dx_1 + \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \chi(x_1) dx_1.$$

In the last equality passing to the limit and using (4.34) yields

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left(-n \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \psi_n(x_1) \chi(x_1) dx_1 \right) = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \chi(x_1) dx_1.$$
 (4.35)

The set $C_0^{\infty}(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$ is dense in the space $L_2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$. Hence, (4.35) remains valid for all $\chi \in L_2(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2})$. Taking $\chi(x_1) \equiv 1$ we obtain

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (nb_b) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(-n \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \psi_n(x_1) dx_1 \right) = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} dx_1 = d.$$

The flux $F(t) = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1, t) dx_1$ is a periodic function and $F \in L_2(0, 2\pi)$. Therefore, it can be expressed by the Fourier series

$$F(t) = \frac{F_0^{(c)}}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(F_n^{(c)} \cos(nt) + F_n^{(s)} \sin(nt) \right). \tag{4.36}$$

Lemma 4.2. Fourier coefficients $(q_n^{(c)}, q_n^{(s)})$ and $(F_n^{(c)}, F_n^{(s)})$ of the functions q(t) and F(t), are related by equalities

$$F_n^{(c)} = a_n q_n^{(c)} - b_n q_n^{(s)}, \quad F_n^{(s)} = b_n q_n^{(c)} + a_n q_n^{(s)}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, ...,$$
 (4.37)

or, equivalently,

$$q_n^{(c)} = \frac{a_n F_n^{(c)} + b_n^{(s)}}{a_n^2 + b_n^2}, \quad q_n^{(s)} = \frac{a_n F_n^{(s)} - b_n F_n^{(c)}}{a_n^2 + b_n^2}.$$
 (4.38)

Proof. Let us define the functions

$$\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) = U_n^{(c)}(x_1, -t), \quad \widehat{U}_n^{(s)}(x_1, t) = U_n^{(s)}(x_1, -t), \quad t \in [0, 2\pi]$$
(4.39)

which are the solutions of the following problems

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\widehat{U}_{n}^{(c)} + \alpha \frac{\partial^{2} \widehat{U}_{n}^{(c)}}{\partial x_{1}^{2}}) + \nu \frac{\partial^{2} \widehat{U}_{n}^{(c)}}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} = -\cos(nt), \\
\widehat{U}_{n}^{(c)} (-\frac{d}{2}, t) = \widehat{U}_{n}^{(c)} (\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad \widehat{U}_{n}^{(c)} (x_{1}, 0) = \widehat{U}_{n}^{(c)} (x_{1}, 2\pi),
\end{cases} (4.40)$$

and

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\widehat{U}_{n}^{(s)} + \alpha \frac{\partial^{2} \widehat{U}_{n}^{(s)}}{\partial x_{1}^{2}}) + \nu \frac{\partial^{2} \widehat{U}_{n}^{(s)}}{\partial x_{1}^{2}} = -\sin(nt), \\
\widehat{U}_{n}^{(s)} (-\frac{d}{2}, t) = \widehat{U}_{n}^{(s)} (\frac{d}{2}, t) = 0, \quad \widehat{U}_{n}^{(s)} (x_{1}, 0) = \widehat{U}_{n}^{(s)} (x_{1}, 2\pi).
\end{cases} (4.41)$$

It is obvious, that

$$U_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) = \varphi_n(x_1)\cos(nt) + \psi_n(x_1)\sin(nt),$$

$$U_n^{(s)}(x_1, t) = \psi_n(x_1)\cos(nt) - \varphi_n(x_1)\sin(nt).$$
(4.42)

Multiplying equation (4.4₁) by $\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)$ and integrating by parts on $\left(-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2}\right)$ yields

$$\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial U(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) dx_1 - \alpha \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \frac{\partial U(x_1, t)}{\partial t} \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1
-\nu \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1, t) \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1 = \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} q(t) \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) dx_1.$$
(4.43)

Using the equalities

$$\frac{\partial U(x_1,t)}{\partial t}\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(U(x_1,t) \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t) \right) - U(x_1,t) \frac{\partial \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial t},$$

$$\frac{\partial U(x_1,t)}{\partial t} \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(U(x_1,t) \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \right) - U(x_1,t) \frac{\partial^3 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial t \partial x_1^2},$$

we rewrite (4.43) in the form

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1, t) \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) dx_1 - \alpha \frac{d}{dt} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1, t) \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} dx_1
- \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1, t) \Big(\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) + \alpha \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_{nt}^{(c)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} + \nu \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1^2} \Big) dx_1
= \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} q(t) \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1, t) dx_1.$$

Integrating the last equality by t from 0 to 2π , using periodicity condition, the definition of the functions $\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}$ and (4.28), we obtain

$$-\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1,t) \Big(\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t) + \alpha \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_{nt}^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} + \nu \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \Big) dx_1 dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi} q(t) \Big(\int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t) dx_1 \Big) dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} q(t) (a_n \cos(nt) - b_n \sin(nt)) dt.$$

It follows from (4.40_1) that

$$-\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1,t) \Big(\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t) + \alpha \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_{nt}^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} + \nu \frac{\partial^2 \widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)}{\partial x_1^2} \Big) dx_1 dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1,t) \cos(nt) dx_1 dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} F(t) \cos(nt) dt.$$

Therefore, the following formula

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} F(t)\cos(nt)dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} q(t)(a_n\cos(nt) - b_n\sin(nt))dt$$
 (4.44)

holds. Substituting series (4.10) and (4.36) into (4.41) we obtain the first formula in (4.37). The second one can be proved in the same way, taking $\widehat{U}_n^{(s)}(x_1,t)$ instead of $\widehat{U}_n^{(c)}(x_1,t)$.

Since $a_n^2 + b_n^2 > 0$ from (4.37) follows (4.38).

Lemma 4.3. Let $(F_n^{(c)}, F_n^{(s)})$ and $(q_n^{(c)}, q_n^{(s)})$, n = 0, 1, 2, ..., satisfy the relations (4.37) or (4.38). If the Fourier series (4.7) converges in the space $L_2(0, 2\pi)$ to some $q \in L_2(0, 2\pi)$, then (4.36) converges to $F \in L_2(0, 2\pi)$. Moreover, the following estimate is valid

$$||F||_{L_2(0,2\pi)} \le c_1 ||q||_{L_2(0,2\pi)}. \tag{4.45}$$

Opposite, if the Fourier series (4.36) converges to $F \in W_2^1(0, 2\pi)$, then (4.7) converges to $q \in L_2(0, 2\pi)$ and

$$||q||_{L_2(0,2\pi)} \le c_2||F||_{W_2^1(0,2\pi)}.$$
 (4.46)

Constants c_1 and c_2 depends only on d.

Proof. In addition to (4.37) and Lemma 4.1 (a), we have the relations

$$F_0^{(c)} = a_0 q_0^{(c)}, \quad |F_n^{(c)}|^2 + |F_n^{(s)}|^2 = (a_n^2 + b_n^2)(|q_n^{(c)}|^2 + |q_n^{(s)}|^2), \quad n \ge 1.$$
 (4.47)

Using Lemma 4.1 (b) we get

$$\frac{|F_0^{(c)}|^2}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(|F_n^{(c)}|^2 + |F_n^{(s)}|^2 \right) \le a_0^2 \frac{|q_0^{(c)}|}{2} + 2d^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(|q_n^{(c)}|^2 + |q_n^{(s)}|^2 \right).$$

If $q \in L_2(0, 2\pi)$, then series (4.36) converges in $L_2(0, 2\pi)$ and inequality (4.45) follows from Parseval equality.

From (4.47) it follows that

$$|q_n^{(c)}|^2 + |q_n^{(s)}|^2 \le \frac{1}{b_n^2} (|F_n^{(c)}|^2 + |F_n^{(s)}|^2), \quad n \ge 1.$$
 (4.48)

By Lemma 4.1 (c) we obtain, that there exists a number N_0 such that

$$b_n \ge \frac{d}{2n}, \quad \forall n \ge N_0.$$

Let us take $b_* = min\{b_1, ..., b_{N_0}\}$. Using Lemma 4.1 (a) we get the inequality $b_* > 0$. From Lemma 4.1 (b) and inequality (4.48) it follows that

$$\frac{|q_0^{(c)}|^2}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(|q_n^{(c)}|^2 + |q_n^{(s)}|^2 \right) \le \frac{1}{a_0} \frac{|F_0^{(c)}|}{2} + \frac{1}{b_*^2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(|F_n^{(c)}|^2 + |F_n^{(s)}|^2 \right) + \frac{4}{d^2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^2 \left(|F_n^{(c)}|^2 + |F_n^{(s)}|^2 \right).$$

If $F \in W_2^1(0, 2\pi)$, then series (4.7) converges in $L_2(0, 2\pi)$. From Parseval equality we get (4.46).

4.3 Inverse problem

Theorem 4.2. Let $F \in W_2^1(0, 2\pi)$ be 2π -periodic function. There exists the unique 2π -periodic solution $(U(x_1, t), q(t)) \in W_2^{2,1}((-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}) \times (0, 2\pi)) \times L_2(0, 2\pi)$ of problem (4.4). Moreover, the following estimate

$$||U||_{W_{2}^{2,1}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))} + \left\|\frac{\partial U}{\partial x_{1}}\right\|_{W_{2}^{1,1}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))} + \left\|\frac{\partial^{3} U}{\partial t \partial x_{1}^{2}}\right\|_{L_{2}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))} \leq c||F||_{W_{2}^{1}(0,2\pi)}$$

$$(4.49)$$

holds.

Proof. Let $F_n^{(c)}$ and $F_n^{(s)}$ be the coefficients of function F(t). The function q(t) is determinated by formula (4.7) with coefficients $q_n^{(c)}$ and $q_n^{(s)}$ defined by (4.38). In virtue of Lemma 4.3, series (4.7) converges in $L_2(0,2\pi)$ and the limit function $q \in L_2(0,2\pi)$. Moreover, inequality (4.46) is valid. From Theorem 4.1 it follows that problem (4.4) has the unique solution $U \in W_2^{2,1}((-\frac{d}{2},\frac{d}{2})\times(0,2\pi))$ and estimate (4.6) is valid. Obviously, $(U(x_1,t),q(t))$ is the solution of problem (4.4) and from (4.6), (4.46) follows (4.49).

Let F(t) = 0. Multiply (4.4₁) by $U(x_1, t)$, integrate by parts on $\left(-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}\right)$ and by t from 0 to 2π :

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} \left| \frac{\partial U(x_1, t)}{\partial x_1} \right|^2 dx_1 dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} q(t) \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} U(x_1, t) dx_1 dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} q(t) F(t) dt = 0.$$

Therefore, $U(x_1,t)=0$. From (4.4_1) it follows that q(t)=0.

Remark 4.1. The solution of problem (4.4) can be expressed by the following series

$$U(x_1,t) = \frac{q_0^{(c)}}{2} \varphi_0(x_1) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\left(q_n^{(c)} \varphi_n(x_1) + q_n^{(s)} \psi_n(x_1) \right) \cos(nt) + \left(q_n^{(s)} \varphi_n(x_1) - q_n^{(c)} \psi_n(x_1) \right) \sin(nt) \right),$$

where functions $\varphi_n(x_1)$, $\psi_n(x_1)$, n = 0, 1, 2, ..., are the solutions of problems (4.27) and the coefficients $q_n^{(c)}$, $q_n^{(s)}$ are expressed by formulas (4.38).

Chapter 5

Flow in a pipe with arbitrary cross section

In this chapter we study the flow of the incompressible non-Newtonian second grade fluid flow problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{u} + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}, \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\
\mathbf{u}|_{S^{T}} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x, 0) = \mathbf{u}_{0}(x),
\end{cases} (5.1)$$

with additionally prescribed flux condition

$$\int_{\sigma} u_3(x', x_3, t) dx' = F(t)$$

$$(5.2)$$

in the three-dimensional pipe $\Pi = \{x = (x', x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x' \in \sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^2, x_3 \in \mathbb{R}\}$, where the cross-section σ is an arbitrary bounded plane domain with the boundary $\partial \sigma$ of class C^4 .

First, let us assume (as in the previous chapters) that the initial velocity $\mathbf{u}_0(x)$ and the exterior force $\mathbf{f}(x,t)$ are independent of the coordinate x_3 and have the forms

$$\mathbf{u}_0(x) = (0, 0, u_0(x')), \quad \mathbf{f}(x, t) = (0, 0, f(x', t)). \tag{5.3}$$

Let us try to find the unidirectional solution

$$\mathbf{u}(x,t) = (0,0,U(x',t)). \tag{5.4}$$

Substituting expression (5.4) into system (5.1) we get

$$\begin{cases} -U \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} (U - \alpha \Delta U) + \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_1} = 0, \\ -U \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} (U - \alpha \Delta U) + \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_2} = 0, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (U - \alpha \Delta U) - \nu \Delta U + \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_3} = f, \\ U|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad U(x', 0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

The vector $(-U\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}(U-\alpha\Delta U), -U\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}(U-\alpha\Delta U))^T$ cannot be expressed as a gradient of some function. Therefore, we can not look for a solution of problem (5.1)-(5.2) in form (5.4), and even in the case of unidirectional data (having the form (5.3)) the velocity field has all three components.

In this chapter we consider a little bit more general case when data have all three components. Let us suppose that \mathbf{f} and \mathbf{u}_0 do not depend on the coordinate x_3 and have the forms

$$\mathbf{u}_0(x) = (u_{01}(x'), u_{02}(x'), v_0(x')), \quad \mathbf{f}(x,t) = (f_1(x',t), f_2(x',t), f_3(x',t)),$$

and look for the *Poiseuille* type solution $(\mathbf{u}(x,t),p(x,t))$ of system (5.1) having the following form

$$\mathbf{u}(x,t) = (U_1(x',t), U_2(x',t), U_3(x',t)),$$

$$p(x,t) = \widetilde{p}(x',t) - q(t)x_3 + p_0(t),$$
(5.5)

where $p_0(t)$ is an arbitrary function. Moreover, we look for the solution having the prescribed flux

$$\int_{\sigma} U_3(x',t) dx' = F(t). \tag{5.6}$$

Obviously, in this case the initial velocity has to satisfy the necessary compatibility condition

$$\int_{\sigma} v_0(x')dx' = F(0). \tag{5.7}$$

Substituting expressions (5.5) into equations (5.1), (5.2) we obtain the following problem on $\sigma^T = \sigma \times (0, T)$:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{U}' - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{U}') - \nu \Delta \mathbf{U}' + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{U}' - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{U}') \times \mathbf{U}' \\
-U_{3}(\nabla(U_{3} - \alpha \Delta U_{3})) + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}', \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}' = 0, \\
\mathbf{U}'|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad \mathbf{U}'(x', 0) = \mathbf{u}'_{0}(x'),
\end{cases}$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(U_{3} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}) - \nu \Delta U_{3} + (\mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla)(U_{3} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}) = f_{3} + q(t), \\
U_{3}|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad U_{3}(x', 0) = v_{0}(x'), \\
\int_{\sigma} U_{3}(x', t) dx' = F(t),
\end{cases}$$
(5.8)

where $\mathbf{f}'(x',t) = (f_1(x',t), f_2(x',t)), \mathbf{U}'(x',t) = (U_1(x',t), U_2(x',t))$. Notice that in (5.8) functions $\mathbf{u}_0(x')$, $\mathbf{f}(x',t)$ and F(t) are given, while $\mathbf{U}(x',t)$, $\widetilde{p}(x',t)$ and q(t) are unknown and have to be found.

Let us remind that for the two-dimensional vector-fields we understand the operator curl as the usual operator curl for the three-dimensional vectors with the third component equal to zero.

5.1 Function spaces and auxiliary results

In this section we define function spaces, which are used in the following calculus. Let $\sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a bounded domain. Define the function space

$$\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma) = \{ u : u \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma), \nabla(u - \alpha \Delta u) \in L_{2}(\sigma) \}$$

with the norm

$$||u||_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)}^2 = ||u||_{W_2^1(\sigma)}^2 + ||\nabla(u - \alpha\Delta u)||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2.$$

In the case $\partial \sigma \in C^3$ the space $\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$ is equivalent to $W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$. Indeed, if $u \in W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ then, obviously, $u \in \mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$ and $||u||_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} \leq c||u||_{W_2^3(\sigma)}$. On the other hand, applying the Nečas inequality to Δu we get

$$\|\Delta u\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \leq c \left(\|\Delta u\|_{W_{2}^{-1}(\sigma)} + \|\nabla \Delta u\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \right)$$

$$\leq c \left(\|\nabla u\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} + \|\nabla \Delta u\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \right).$$
(5.9)

Therefore, considering u as a solution of the Poisson equation

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = -\Delta u, \\ u|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \end{cases}$$

we obtain the estimate

$$||u||_{W_2^3(\sigma)} \le c \Big(||\Delta u||_{L_2(\sigma)} + ||\nabla \Delta u||_{L_2(\sigma)} \Big)$$

$$\le c \Big(||\nabla u||_{L_2(\sigma)} + ||\nabla \Delta u||_{L_2(\sigma)} \Big) \le c ||u||_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}.$$
(5.10)

Denote

$$\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma) = \{ \mathbf{u} : \mathbf{u} \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma), \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \in L_{2}(\sigma), \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0 \}.$$

The norm in $\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)$ is defined by

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathring{\mathbf{y}}(\sigma)}^2 = \|\mathbf{u}\|_{W_2^1(\sigma)}^2 + \|\operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u})\|_{L_2(\sigma)}^2.$$

In the case $\partial \sigma \in C^3$ the space $\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)$ is equivalent to $W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{W_2^3(\sigma)} \le c \|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathring{y}(\sigma)}.$$
 (5.11)

The proof of these facts is given in [15].

Let

$$\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T) = \{ u : D_x^{\alpha} u \in L_2(\sigma^T), |\alpha| \le 3, \frac{\partial}{\partial t} u \in L_2(\sigma^T), \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} u \in L_2(\sigma^T), u|_{\partial \sigma} = 0 \}$$

with the norm

$$||u||_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} = \sum_{|\alpha| \leq 3} ||D_{x}^{\alpha}u||_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + ||\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u||_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + ||\nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t}u||_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2}$$

and

$$\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T) = \{ \mathbf{u} : \mathbf{u} \in \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T), \text{ div } \mathbf{u} = 0 \}.$$

Below, by constructing Galerkin approximations for the solution of problem (5.8), we use, following the ideas from [14] - [15], the special basis in the space $\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)$. Let $\{\mu_k\}$ and

 $\{\mathbf{w}_k\}_{k\geq 1}\subset \mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)$ be eigenvalues and eigenfunctions¹ of the following problem

$$\int_{\sigma} \nabla (\mathbf{w}_{k}(x') - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{w}_{k}(x')) \cdot \nabla (\boldsymbol{\rho}(x') - \alpha \Delta \boldsymbol{\rho}(x')) dx'
= (\mu_{k} - 1) \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{w}_{k} \rho(x') + \alpha \nabla \mathbf{w}_{k}(x') \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\rho}(x')) dx' \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\rho} \in \mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma).$$
(5.12)

Theorem 5.1. (see [13], Lemma 4.1) Let $\sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a bounded simply connected domain with the boundary $\partial \sigma \in C^4$. Then

- (5.12) defines a countable set of eigenvalues $\mu_k > 1$, k = 1, 2, ...; the corresponding eigenfunctions $\{\mathbf{w}_k\}_{k\geq 1}$ constitute basiss in the spaces $\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)$, $\mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and $L_2(\sigma)$.
- The eigenfunctions \mathbf{w}_k of (5.12) belong to the space $W_2^4(\sigma)$.

Analogous basis can be constructed in the space $\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$. Let $\{\lambda_k\}$ and $\{w_k\}_{k\geq 1}\subset \mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$ be eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the problem

$$\int_{\sigma} \nabla(w_k(x') - \alpha \Delta w_k(x')) \cdot \nabla(\rho(x') - \alpha \Delta \rho(x')) dx'
= (\lambda_k - 1) \int_{\sigma} (w_k \rho(x') + \alpha \nabla w_k(x') \cdot \nabla \rho(x')) dx' \quad \forall \rho \in \mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma).$$
(5.13)

Theorem 5.2. Let $\sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a bounded simply connected domain with the boundary $\partial \sigma \in C^4$. Then

- (5.13) defines a countable set of eigenvalues $\lambda_k > 1$, k = 1, 2, ...; the corresponding eigenfunctions $\{w_k\}_{k\geq 1}$ constitute basiss in $\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$, $\mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and $L_2(\sigma)$.
- The eigenfunctions w_k can be orthonormalized:

$$\int_{\sigma} (w_k w_l + \alpha \nabla w_k \cdot \nabla w_l) dx' = \begin{cases} 0, & k \neq l, \\ 1, & k = l. \end{cases}$$
 (5.14)

Then

$$\int_{\sigma} \nabla (w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k) \cdot \nabla (w_l - \alpha \Delta w_l) dx' = \begin{cases} 0, & k \neq l, \\ \lambda_k - 1, & k = l. \end{cases}$$
 (5.15)

• The eigenfunctions w_k of (5.13) belong to the space $W_2^4(\sigma)$.

¹i.e., \mathbf{w}_k are nontrivial solutions of (5.12).

Proof. The first property can be proved by standard arguments (see, for example, [17] Chapter 9.2). The second property follows direct from the integral identity (5.13). To prove the third property, we denote $\rho - \alpha \Delta \rho = \varphi$ and rewrite identity (5.13) in the form

$$\int_{\sigma} \nabla (w_k(x') - \alpha \Delta w_k(x')) \cdot \nabla \varphi dx' = (\lambda_k - 1) \int_{\sigma} w_k \varphi dx'.$$

Obviously, if $\rho \in \mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$, then $\varphi \in W_2^1(\sigma)$. On the other hand, for any $\varphi \in W_2^1(\sigma)$ there exists a unique $\rho \in \mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$ such that $\rho - \alpha \Delta \rho = \varphi$. Therefore, $w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k \in W_2^1(\sigma)$ can be interpreted as a weak solution to the following Neumann problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta(w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k) = (\lambda_k - 1)w_k, \\ \frac{\partial(w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k)}{\partial n} \Big|_{\partial \sigma} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Since $w_k \in L_2(\sigma)$, we conclude that $w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k \in W_2^2(\sigma)$. Consider now w_k as a solution of the Dirichlet problem:

$$\begin{cases} w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k = w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k, \\ w_k|_{\partial \sigma} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Since $\sigma \in C^4$, it follows (see, for example, [26]) that $w_k \in W_2^4(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$. \square

5.2 Direct problem in a plane domain

For small data problem (5.8) can be solved by iterations, dividing it into two problems:

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\mathbf{U}' - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{U}') - \nu \Delta \mathbf{U}' + curl(\mathbf{U}' - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{U}') \times \mathbf{U}' + \nabla \widetilde{p} \\
= U_3(\nabla (U_3 - \alpha \Delta U_3)) + \mathbf{f}', \\
\operatorname{div}_{x'} \mathbf{U}' = 0, \\
\mathbf{U}'|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad \mathbf{U}'(x', 0) = \mathbf{u}'_0(x'),
\end{cases} (5.16)$$

with given U_3 and

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(U_3 - \alpha \Delta U_3) - \nu \Delta U_3 + (\mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla)(U_3 - \alpha \Delta U_3) = f + q(t), \\
U_3|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad U_3(x', 0) = v_0(x'), \\
\int_{\sigma} U_3(x', t) dx' = F(t),
\end{cases} (5.17)$$

with given U'. Problem (5.16) with the given right-hand side is the standard initial boundary value problem describing the motion of the second grade fluid in a bounded plane domain σ . Such two- and three-dimensional problems have been studied by several authors (see [13]-[15], [41]-[39], [60], [86], etc.). Problem (5.17) is an inverse problem (the function q in the right-hand side is unknown).

By studying the inverse problem (5.17) it is convenient to reduce it to the case of zero right-hand side f and the homogeneous initial condition. This could be done by subtracting the solution v of the direct problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(v - \alpha \Delta v) - \nu \Delta v + (\mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla)(v - \alpha \Delta v) = f, \\
v|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad v(x', 0) = v_0(x').
\end{cases}$$
(5.18)

5.2.1 Construction of approximate solutions

In this section we prove the existence of the unique solution to the problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(v - \alpha \Delta v) - \nu \Delta v + (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)(v - \alpha \Delta v) = f, \\ v|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad v(x', 0) = v_0(x'), \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

assuming, that the function $\mathbf{W} \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ is given and satisfies the following condition

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{W}\|_{\mathring{X}(\sigma)} + \|\mathbf{W}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)} \le \delta_0, \tag{5.20}$$

where δ_0 is a sufficiently small constant.

Deffinition. The function $v \in \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$ is called a weak solution of problem (5.19) if it satisfies for all $t \in [0,T]$ the integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\partial_{\tau} v \, \eta + \alpha \nabla \partial_{\tau} v \cdot \nabla \eta) \, dx' d\tau + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla v \cdot \nabla \eta dx' d\tau$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} f \eta \, dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla) \eta \, (v - \alpha \Delta v) \, dx' d\tau \, \, \forall \, \eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})$$
(5.21)

and the initial condition $v(x', 0) = v_0(x')$.

Let $f \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $v_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$. Then we can express them by the Fourier series

$$f(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k(t)w_k(x'), \quad v_0(x') = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k w_k(x'),$$

where $f_k(t) = \int_{\sigma} f_3(x',t)w_k(x')dx'$, $a_k = \int_{\sigma} v_0(x')w_k(x')dx'$ and $\{w_k\} \subset \mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$ are the eigenfunctions of problem (5.13).

We look for the approximate solutions $v^{(N)}(x',t)$ in the form

$$v^{(N)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} y_k^{(N)}(t) w_k(x'),$$

where the coefficients $y_k^{(N)}(t)$ are found from the integral equalities

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k \right) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} \nabla v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k dx'
= \int_{\sigma} f^{(N)} w_k dx' + \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla w_k (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) dx', \quad k = 1, ..., N,$$
(5.22)

and the initial condition $v^{(N)}(x',0) = v_0^{(N)}(x')$, where

$$f^{(N)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} f_k(t)w_k(x'), \quad v_0^{(N)}(x') = \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k w_k(x').$$

Since the eigenfunctions w_k are smooth $(w_k \in W_2^4(\sigma))$, the approximations $v^{(N)}(x',t)$ are solutions to the following initial boundary value problems

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) - \nu \Delta v^{(N)} + (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)(v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) = f^{(N)}, \\
v^{(N)}|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad v^{(N)}(x', 0) = v_0^{(N)}(x').
\end{cases}$$
(5.23)

Multiplying (5.22) by $w_j(x')$ and using (5.14) we derive the Cauchy problem for the system of linear ordinary differential equations

$$\begin{cases} y_k^{(N)'}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{N} (\frac{\nu}{\alpha} + m_{kj}(t)) y_k^{(N)}(t) = f_k(t), & k = 1, ..., N, \\ y_k^{(N)}(0) = a_k, & k = 1, ..., N, \end{cases}$$

where $m_{kj}(t) = -\int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\nu}{\alpha} w_k w_j - (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla) w_j (w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k)\right) dx'$.

The last system can be rewritten in the vector form:

$$\begin{cases}
\mathbf{Y}^{(N)'}(t) + (\mathbb{J}^{(N)} + \mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t))\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t) = \mathbf{f}(t), \\
\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(0) = \mathbf{a},
\end{cases} (5.24)$$

where

$$\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} y_1^{(N)}(t) \\ \dots \\ y_N^{(N)}(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{f} = \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ \dots \\ f_N \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{a} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ \dots \\ a_N \end{pmatrix},$$

 $\mathbb{J}^{(N)} = \operatorname{diag}(\frac{\nu}{\alpha}, ..., \frac{\nu}{\alpha})$ - diagonal matrix, $\mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t)$ is $(N \times N)$ - matrix with elements $m_{kj}(t)$.

Lemma 5.1. Let $f \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $v_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$. Suppose that $\mathbf{W} \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ is given and satisfies (5.20). Then there exist a unique solution $Y^{(N)} \in W_2^1(0,T)$ of system (5.24).

Proof. Let us prove that elements $m_{kj}(t)$ of the matrix $\mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t)$ are bounded. We have

$$\begin{aligned} &|m_{kj}(t)| = \left| \int_{\sigma} -\frac{\nu}{\alpha} w_{k}(x') w_{j}(x') - (\mathbf{W}(x',t) \cdot \nabla) w_{j}(x') (w_{k}(x') - \alpha \Delta w_{k}(x')) dx' \right| \\ &\leq \frac{\nu}{\alpha} + \left| \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{W}(x',t) \cdot \nabla) (w_{k}(x') - \alpha \Delta w_{k}(x')) w_{j}(x') dx' \right| \\ &\leq \frac{\nu}{\alpha} + \|\mathbf{W}(\cdot,t)\|_{L_{4}(\sigma)} \|\nabla (w_{k} - \alpha \Delta w_{k})\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \|w_{j}\|_{L_{4}(\sigma)} \\ &\leq \frac{\nu}{\alpha} + c \|\mathbf{W}(\cdot,t)\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{1/2} \|\nabla \mathbf{W}(\cdot,t)\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{1/2} \|\nabla (w_{k} - \alpha \Delta w_{k})\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \|\nabla w_{j}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \\ &\leq \frac{\nu}{\alpha} + c \left(\frac{\lambda_{k} - 1}{\alpha}\right)^{1/2} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}'(\cdot,t)\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{1/2} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\nabla \mathbf{W}(\cdot,t)\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{1/2} \leq \frac{\nu}{\alpha} + c\delta_{0}. \end{aligned}$$

Here we have used equalities (5.14), (5.15), the well known inequality

$$||u||_{L_4(\sigma)}^4 \le c||u||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 ||\nabla u||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 \le c||\nabla u||_{L_2(\sigma)}^4$$

which holds for any function $u \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma)$ (see, for example, [52]) and the condition (5.20). Thus, all elements of the matrix $\mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t)$ are bounded functions and, therefore, the existence of the unique solution to problem (5.24) follows from standard results for linear ordinary differential equations (see, for example, [83]). \square

5.2.2 A priori estimates

Lemma 5.2. Let $\mathbf{W} \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ satisfies condition (5.20) with sufficiently small δ_0 (δ_0 is subject to inequalities (5.35), (5.37), (5.40) below). Suppose that $\partial \sigma \in C^4$, $f \in W_2^1(\sigma)$

and $v_0 \in W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$. Then for the approximate solution $v^{(N)}$ the following estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|v^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} + \|v^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)} \le c \left(\|f^{(N)}\|_{W_2^1(\sigma^T)} + \|v_0^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} \right) \tag{5.25}$$

holds. Here c does not depend on N.

Proof. Let us multiply equalities (5.22) by $y_k^{(N)}(t)$ and sum them by k from 1 to N:

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|v^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx'
= \int_{\sigma} f^{(N)} v^{(N)} dx' - \alpha \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla) \Delta v^{(N)} v^{(N)} dx'
\leq \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^2 dx' + c\varepsilon \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx' + \alpha \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{W}| ||v^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)} ||\nabla \Delta v^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)}
\leq \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^2 dx' + \frac{c\delta_0^2}{\varepsilon} ||\nabla \Delta v^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 + c\varepsilon \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx'.$$

Here we have applied Cauchy inequality with ε , Poincaré-Friedrichs inequality and the inequality

$$\sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{W}| + \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{W}| \le c ||\mathbf{W}||_{W_2^3(\sigma)}
\le c \left(||\mathbf{W}||_{W_2^1(\sigma)} + ||curl(\mathbf{W} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{W})||_{L_2(\sigma)} \right) \le c \delta_0,$$
(5.26)

which follows from the Sobolev Embedding Theorem, (5.9) and (5.13). Taking $\varepsilon = \frac{\nu}{2c}$ yields

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|v^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx'
\leq c \delta_0^2 ||\nabla \Delta v^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 + c \int_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^2 dx'.$$
(5.27)

Denote

$$\Phi^{(N)}(x',t) = (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)(v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) - \nu \Delta v^{(N)} - f^{(N)}.$$
 (5.28)

Since the eigenfunctions $w_k \in W_2^4(\sigma)$, it follows that $\Phi^{(N)} \in W_2^1(\sigma)$.

Let us rewrite equalities (5.22) in the form:

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k \right) dx' + \int_{\sigma} \Phi^{(N)} w_k dx' = 0.$$
 (5.29)

Let $W^{(N)}(\cdot,t) \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma) \cap W_2^3(\sigma)$ be the solution of the following problem

$$\begin{cases} -\alpha \Delta W^{(N)} + W^{(N)} = \Phi^{(N)}, \\ W^{(N)}|_{\partial \sigma} = 0. \end{cases}$$
 (5.30)

Then

$$\int_{\sigma} (\alpha \nabla W^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \eta + W^{(N)} \eta) dx' = \int_{\sigma} \Phi^{(N)} \eta dx' \quad \forall \eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma).$$
 (5.31)

Taking in (5.31) $\eta = w_k$ we obtain from (5.29) the relations

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k \right) dx' + \int_{\sigma} \left(W^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla W^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k \right) dx' = 0.$$

By the definition of the eigenfunctions w_k (see (5.13)) we can rewrite the last equalities as follows

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_k} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k + \nabla \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} \right) \cdot \nabla \left(w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k \right) \right) dx' \\
+ \frac{1}{\lambda_k} \int_{\sigma} \left(W^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla W^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k + \nabla \left(W^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta W^{(N)} \right) \cdot \nabla \left(w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k \right) \right) dx' = 0.$$

Multiplying these relations by $\lambda_k y_k^{(N)}(t)$ and summing from 1 to N yields

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int\limits_{\sigma}\left(|v^{(N)}|^2+\alpha|\nabla v^{(N)}|^2+|\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})|^2\right)dx'\\ &+\int\limits_{\sigma}\left(W^{(N)}v^{(N)}+\alpha\nabla W^{(N)}\cdot\nabla v^{(N)}\right)dx'\\ &+\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla(W^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta W^{(N)})\cdot\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})dx'=0. \end{split}$$

From (5.30), (5.31) it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|v^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 + |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^2) dx'
+ \int_{\sigma} \Phi^{(N)} v^{(N)} dx' + \int_{\sigma} \nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) \cdot \nabla \Phi^{(N)} dx' = 0.$$
(5.32)

Substituting expression (5.28) of the function $\Phi^{(N)}$ into (5.32) gives

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} \left(|v^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 + |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^2 \right) dx' + \alpha \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla v^{(N)} \Delta v^{(N)} dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx' + \int_{\sigma} \nabla \left((\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)(v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) \right) \cdot \nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) dx'$$

$$\frac{+\nu}{\alpha} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla(v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^2 dx' - \frac{\nu}{\alpha} \int_{\sigma} \nabla v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla(v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) dx'
= \int_{\sigma} f^{(N)} v^{(N)} dx' + \int_{\sigma} \nabla f^{(N)} \cdot \nabla(v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) dx'.$$
(5.33)

The right-hand side of (5.33) contains the term with the fourth order derivative. However, this term can be estimated by the integral containing only derivatives up to the third order. The operations below are correct because the functions w_k belong to the space $W_2^4(\sigma)$. Denote for simplicity $v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)} = u$. We have

$$\int_{\sigma} \nabla \left((\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)(v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) \right) \cdot \nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) dx'
= \int_{\sigma} \nabla \left((\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)u \right) \cdot \nabla u dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{\nabla \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla\}u \cdot \nabla u dx'
+ \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)\nabla u \cdot \nabla u dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{\nabla \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla\}u \cdot \nabla u dx'
+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla)|\nabla u|^{2} dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{\nabla \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla\}u \cdot \nabla u dx'
- \frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{W}|\nabla u|^{2} dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{\nabla \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla\}u \cdot \nabla u dx'
\leq c \int_{\sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{W}||\nabla u|^{2} dx' \leq c \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{W}| \int_{\sigma} |\nabla u|^{2} dx'
\leq c \delta_{0} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla u|^{2} dx' = c \delta_{0} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)} - \alpha \nabla \Delta v^{(N)}|^{2} dx'.$$
(5.34)

Here we have used the notation $\{\nabla \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla\} = \nabla (W_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + W_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2})$ and applied (5.26). Using (5.34) from (5.33) we get the estimate

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int\limits_{\sigma}\left(|v^{(N)}|^2+\alpha|\nabla v^{(N)}|^2+|\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})|^2\right)dx'+\nu\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla v^{(N)}|^2dx'\\ &+\frac{\nu}{\alpha}\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})|^2dx'=\alpha\int\limits_{\sigma}\mathbf{W}\cdot\nabla\Delta v^{(N)}v^{(N)}dx'\\ &+\frac{\nu}{\alpha}\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla v^{(N)}\cdot\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})dx'+\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla\left((\mathbf{W}\cdot\nabla)(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})\right)\cdot\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})dx'\\ &+\int\limits_{\sigma}f^{(N)}v^{(N)}dx'+\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla f^{(N)}\cdot\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})dx'\leq\alpha\sup\limits_{x'\in\sigma}|\mathbf{W}|\|\nabla\Delta v^{(N)}\|_{L_2(\sigma)}\|v^{(N)}\|_{L_2(\sigma)}\\ &+\frac{\nu}{\alpha}\|\nabla v^{(N)}\|_{L_2(\sigma)}\|\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})\|_{L_2(\sigma)}+\frac{1}{2\varepsilon}(\int\limits_{\sigma}|f^{(N)}|^2dx'+\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla f^{(N)}|^2dx')\\ &+(\frac{\varepsilon}{2}+c\delta_0)\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})|^2dx'+\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla v^{(N)}|dx'\\ &\leq\frac{c\delta_0^2}{\varepsilon}\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla\Delta v^{(N)}|^2dx'+\varepsilon\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla v^{(N)}|dx'+\frac{c}{\varepsilon}\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla v^{(N)}|dx'\\ &+(\varepsilon+c\delta_0)\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})|^2dx'+\frac{1}{2\varepsilon}\int\limits_{\sigma}|f^{(N)}|^2dx'+\frac{1}{2\varepsilon}\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla f^{(N)}|^2dx'\\ &+(\varepsilon+c\delta_0)\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla(v^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta v^{(N)})|^2dx'+\frac{1}{2\varepsilon}\int\limits_{\sigma}|f^{(N)}|^2dx'+\frac{1}{2\varepsilon}\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla f^{(N)}|^2dx' \end{split}$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{c_1\delta_0^2}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon + c_2\delta_0\right) \int_{\sigma} |\nabla(v^{(N)} - \alpha\Delta v^{(N)})|^2 dx' + \varepsilon \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}| dx' + \frac{c(1+\delta_0^2)}{\varepsilon} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}| dx' + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^2 dx' + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla f^{(N)}|^2 dx'.$$

Taking $\varepsilon = \min\{\frac{\nu}{2}, \frac{\nu}{4\alpha}\}$ and assuming that δ_0 is sufficiently small, i.e.,

$$\frac{c_1 \delta_0^2}{\varepsilon} + c_2 \delta_0 \le \frac{\nu}{4\alpha},\tag{5.35}$$

from the latter inequality we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|v^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^{2}) dx'
+ \nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^{2} dx' + \frac{\nu}{\alpha} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^{2} dx'
\leq c \Big(\int_{\sigma} (|f^{(N)}|^{2} + \int_{\sigma} |\nabla f^{(N)}|^{2}) dx' + |\nabla v^{(N)}|^{2} dx' \Big).$$
(5.36)

Integrating inequality (5.27) by t gives the estimates

$$\begin{split} &\int\limits_{\sigma} \left(|v^{(N)}(x',t)|^2 + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}(x',t)|^2 \right) dx' + \nu \int\limits_{0}^{t} \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau \\ &\leq c \delta_0^2 \int\limits_{0}^{t} \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla \Delta v^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau + c \int\limits_{0}^{t} \int\limits_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau + \int\limits_{\sigma} \left(|v_0^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla v_0^{(N)}|^2 \right) dx' \\ &\leq c \delta_0^2 \int\limits_{0}^{t} \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^2 dx' d\tau + c_3 \delta_0^2 \int\limits_{0}^{t} \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau \\ &+ c \int\limits_{0}^{t} \int\limits_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau + \int\limits_{\sigma} \left(|v_0^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla v_0^{(N)}|^2 \right) dx'. \end{split}$$

If

$$c_3 \delta_0^2 \le \frac{\nu}{2},\tag{5.37}$$

the last inequality yields

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^{2} dx' d\tau \leq c \delta_{0}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^{2} dx' d\tau
+ c \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^{2} dx' d\tau + \int_{\sigma} (|v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2}) dx'.$$
(5.38)

Integrating inequality (5.36) with respect to t and estimating the last term in right-hand side by (5.38) we obtain

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(|v^{(N)}(x',t)|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}(x',t)|^{2} + |\nabla (v^{(N)}(x',t) - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}(x',t))|^{2} \right) dx'
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^{2} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^{2} dx' d\tau
\leq c \left(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^{2} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla f^{(N)}|^{2} dx' d\tau \right)
+ c_{4} \delta_{0}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^{2} dx' d\tau
+ c \int_{\sigma} \left(|v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (v_{0}^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v_{0}^{(N)})|^{2} \right) dx'.$$
(5.39)

Assuming that

$$c_4 \delta_0^2 \le \frac{1}{2},\tag{5.40}$$

from (5.39) follows the estimate

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(|v^{(N)}(x',t)|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla v^{(N)}(x',t)|^{2} + |\nabla (v^{(N)}(x',t) - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}(x',t))|^{2} \right) dx'
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\nu |\nabla v^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^{2} \right) dx' d\tau
\leq c \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(|f^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla f^{(N)}|^{2} \right) dx' d\tau
+ c \int_{\sigma} \left(|v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (v_{0}^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v_{0}^{(N)})|^{2} \right) dx'.$$
(5.41)

Let us multiply equalities (5.22) by $\frac{d}{dt}y_k^{(N)}(t)$ and sum them by k from 1 to N:

$$\begin{split} &\int\limits_{\sigma} \left(|\frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)}|^2 \right) dx' + \frac{\nu}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}|^2 dx' \\ &= \int\limits_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla) (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} dx' + \int\limits_{\sigma} f^{(N)} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)} dx' \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{U}'|^2 \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)})|^2 dx' + \varepsilon \int\limits_{\sigma} |\frac{\partial}{\partial t} v^{(N)}|^2 dx' + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int\limits_{\sigma} |f^{(N)}|^2 dx'. \end{split}$$

Taking $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2}$, integrating with respect to t and applying (5.26), (5.41) we obtain

$$\nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla v^{(N)}(x',t)|^{2} dx' + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (|\partial_{\tau} v^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla \partial_{\tau} v^{(N)}|^{2}) dx' d\tau
\leq c \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (|f^{(N)}|^{2} dx' d\tau + |\nabla f^{(N)}|^{2}) dx' d\tau
+ c \int_{\sigma} (|v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla v_{0}^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (v_{0}^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v_{0}^{(N)})|^{2}) dx'.$$
(5.42)

Estimate (5.25) follows from (5.41), (5.42) and the definitions of the norms. \square

5.2.3 Existence and uniqueness of the solution

Theorem 5.3. Suppose that $\partial \sigma \in C^4$, $f \in W_2^1(\sigma^T)$, $v_0 \in W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$ and $\mathbf{W} \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ satisfies condition (5.20) with δ_0 subject to inequalities (5.35), (5.37), (5.40). Then problem (5.19) admits a unique week solution $v \in \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$ and the following estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|v\|_{\mathring{X}(\sigma)} + \|v\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)} \le c (\|f\|_{W_2^1(\sigma^T)} + \|v_0\|_{\mathring{X}(\sigma)})$$
(5.43)

holds.

Proof. Multiplying equations (5.23) by arbitrary function $\eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})$ and integrating by parts on σ and by τ from 0 to t we get the following integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} v^{(N)} \eta + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \eta \right) dx' d\tau + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \eta dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} f^{(N)} \eta dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla \eta (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) dx' d\tau \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(5.44)

From estimates (5.41), (5.42) it follows that there exists a subsequence $\{v^{(N_l)}\}$ such that

$$v^{(N_l)}(\cdot,t) \to v(\cdot,t)$$
 in $\mathring{X}(\sigma) \ \forall t \in [0,T], \quad v^{(N_l)} \to v$ in $\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$.

Passing in (5.44) to a limit as $N_l \to \infty$ we obtain for v integral identity (5.21). Obviously, v satisfies the initial condition. Moreover, from inequality (5.25) follows estimate (5.43).

Let us prove the uniqueness. Let $v^{[1]}$ and $v^{[2]}$ be two weak solutions of problem (5.19). The difference $V = v^{[1]} - v^{[2]}$ satisfies the integral identity

$$\begin{split} & \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\sigma (\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V \eta + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V \cdot \nabla \eta) dx' d\tau + \nu \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\sigma \nabla V \cdot \nabla \eta dx' d\tau \\ & = \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\sigma \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla \eta (V - \alpha \Delta V) dx' d\tau \quad \forall \ \eta \in \mathring{W}_2^{1,0}(\sigma^T). \end{split}$$

Taking $\eta = V$ yields

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma} (|V|^2 + \alpha |\nabla V|^2) dx' + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' d\tau = -\alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla V \Delta V dx' d\tau.$$

Integrating by parts the right-hand side term we get

$$-\alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{W} \cdot \nabla V \Delta V dx' d\tau = \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left[-\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{W} (\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} V)^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} W_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} V \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} V \right] dx' d\tau = \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} W_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} V \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} V dx' d\tau \\ \leq c \int_{0}^{t} \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{W}'| \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^{2} dx' d\tau \leq c \int_{0}^{t} ||\mathbf{W}'||_{W_{2}^{3}(\sigma)} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^{2} dx' d\tau.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' \le c \int_{0}^{t} ||\mathbf{W}||_{W_2^3(\sigma)} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' d\tau. \tag{5.45}$$

Define

$$u(s) = \exp(-\int_{0}^{s} c||\mathbf{W}||_{W_{2}^{3}(\sigma)} d\tau) \int_{0}^{s} c||\mathbf{W}||_{W_{2}^{3}(\sigma)} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^{2} dx' d\tau), \quad s \in (0, \tau).$$

Then

$$u'(s) = c||\mathbf{W}||_{W_2^3(\sigma)} \exp(-\int_0^s c||\mathbf{W}||_{W_2^3(\sigma)} d\tau) \Big(\int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' - \int_0^s c||\mathbf{W}||_{W_2^3(\sigma)} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' d\tau \Big).$$

From (5.45) it follows that

$$\int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' - \int\limits_{0}^{t} c||\mathbf{W}||_{W_2^3(\sigma)} \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' d\tau \le 0,$$

and we get $u'(s) \leq 0$. Integrating the last inequality from 0 to t and taking into account that u(0) = 0 we get $u(s) \leq 0$. Hence,

$$\int_{0}^{t} ||\mathbf{W}||_{W_{2}^{3}(\sigma)} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^{2} dx' d\tau \le 0.$$

Substituting this into (5.45) we get $\int_{\sigma} |\nabla V|^2 dx' \leq 0$. Thus, $v^{[1]} = v^{[2]}$. \square

5.3 Construction of an approximate solution to the inverse problem (5.8)

Let us come back to problem (5.8). In this section we construct an approximate solution and prove an a priori estimates of it.

Definition. By a weak solution of problem (5.8) we understand the pair $(\mathbf{U}, q) = (\mathbf{U}', U_3, q) \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T) \times \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T) \times L_2(0, T)$ satisfying the initial condition $\mathbf{U}(x', 0) = \mathbf{u}_0(x')$, the flux condition

$$\int_{\sigma} U_3(x',t)dx' = F(t) \tag{5.46}$$

and the integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \right) dx' d\tau + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla \mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} dx' d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} (\mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} dx' d\tau + \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U} dx' d\tau
- \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U} dx' d\tau = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} q \eta_{3} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{f} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} dx' d\tau
\forall \boldsymbol{\eta} = (\boldsymbol{\eta}', \eta_{3}) \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T}) \text{ with } \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\eta}' = 0, \ \forall \mathbf{t} \in [0, T].$$
(5.47)

One can derive identity (5.47) multiplying equations (5.8₁) by η' , equations (5.8₂) by η_3 , summing the obtained equalities, integrating by parts on σ and then integrating by t. Notice that identity (5.47) is equivalent to the two following identities:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U}' \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}' + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta}' \right) dx' d\tau + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla \mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta}' dx' d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}' \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}' dx' d\tau + \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta}' \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}' dx' d\tau
- \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\boldsymbol{\eta}' \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}' \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}' dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla U_{3} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}' (U_{3} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}) dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{f}' \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}' dx' d\tau \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\eta}' \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T}) \text{ with } \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\eta}' = 0,$$
(5.48)

and

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} U_{3} \eta_{3} + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} U_{3} \cdot \nabla \eta_{3} \right) dx' d\tau + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla U_{3} \cdot \nabla \eta_{3} dx' d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{U}' \cdot \nabla \eta_{3} (U_{3} - \alpha \triangle U_{3}) dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} q \eta_{3} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} f_{3} \eta_{3} dx' d\tau \quad \forall \eta_{3} \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T}).$$
(5.49)

For the Galerkin approximations $\mathbf{U}^{(N)}(x',t) = (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}(x',t), U_3^{(N)}(x',t))$ of the weak solution $\mathbf{U}(x',t)$ we look in the form

$$\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} c_k^{(N)}(t) \mathbf{w}_k(x'), \quad U_3^{(N)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} b_k^{(N)}(t) w_k(x').$$

Here the coefficient $c_1^{(1)}(t)$ is found from the equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}c_1^{(1)}(t) + \nu c_1^{(1)}(t) \int_{\sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{w}_1|^2 dx' = f_1'(t), \quad c_1^{(1)}(0) = u_{01}', \tag{5.50}$$

while $c_k^{(N)}(t)$, $b_k^{(N)}(t)$, k = 1, ..., N, are found recurrently as the solutions of the Cauchy problems for the following systems of ordinary differential equations

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt}b_{k}^{(N)}(t) + \nu \int_{\sigma} \nabla U_{3}^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_{k} dx' + \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) w_{k} (U_{3}^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}^{(N)}) dx' \\
= q^{(N)}(t) \int_{\sigma} w_{k} dx' + f_{3k}(t), \\
b_{k}^{(N)}(0) = v_{0k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, N, \quad N \ge 1,
\end{cases}$$
(5.51)

and

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt}c_{k}^{(N)}(t) + \nu \int_{\sigma} \nabla \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{w}_{k} dx' + \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \mathbf{w}_{k} dx' \\
+ \alpha \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{w}_{k} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} dx' - \alpha \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{w}_{k} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} dx' \\
+ \int_{\sigma} \nabla U_{3}^{(N-1)} \cdot \mathbf{w}_{k} (U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)}) dx' = f'_{k}(t), \\
c_{k}^{(N)}(0) = u'_{0k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, N, \quad N \geq 2.
\end{cases} (5.52)$$

As usual,

$$f'_k(t) = \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{f}' \cdot \mathbf{w}_k dx', \quad u'_{0k} = \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{u}'_0 \cdot \mathbf{w}_k dx',$$

$$f_{3k}(t) = \int_{\sigma} f_3 w_k dx', \quad v_{0k} = \int_{\sigma} v_0 w_k dx'.$$

The functions $q^{(N)}(t)$ in (5.51) are chosen in order to satisfy the flux condition

$$\int_{\sigma} U_3^{(N)}(x',t)dx' = \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) \quad \forall t \in [0,T],$$
 (5.53)

where $\widetilde{F}^{(N)} \to F$ in $W_2^1(0,T)$ ($\widetilde{F}^{(N)}$ will be defined later).

First of all we prove an a priori estimates for $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}$ assuming that $U_3^{(N-1)}$ is known.

Lemma 5.3. Suppose that $U_3^{(N-1)} \in \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$ is given. Let $\mathbf{f}' \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f} \in L_2(\sigma^T)$ and $\mathbf{u}'_0 \in W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$. Then for $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \in \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$ the following estimates

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}^{'(1)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|\mathbf{U}^{'(1)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)}^2 \le C_1 (\|\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|\mathbf{u}_0'\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^2), \quad (5.54)$$

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \le C_{2} (\|\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2}
+ \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|U_{3}^{(N-1)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{4} + \|U_{3}^{(N-1)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^{T})}^{4} + \|\mathbf{u}_{0}'\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2}), \quad N \ge 2,$$
(5.55)

hold. Here C_2 is independent of N.

Proof. Estimate (5.54) follows from the equation (5.50) and the properties of the basis $\{\mathbf{w}_k\}$.

In order to prove (5.55), we use results obtained (see [13], [14]) for the two dimensional equations of the second grate fluid flow

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\mathbf{U}' - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{U}') - \nu \Delta \mathbf{U}' + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{U}' - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{U}') \times \mathbf{U}' + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}', \\
\operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}' = 0, \\
\mathbf{U}'|_{\partial \sigma} = 0, \quad \mathbf{U}'(x', 0) = \mathbf{u}'_{0}(x').
\end{cases} (5.56)$$

It was proved in [13], [14] that if $\mathbf{f}' \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f}' \in L_2(\sigma^T)$ and $\mathbf{u}'_0 \in W_2^3(\sigma)$, then problem (5.56) has the unique weak solution $\mathbf{U}' \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ and the following estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}'\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|\mathbf{U}'\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)}^2 \le c \left(\|\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f}'\|_{L_2(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|\mathbf{u}_0'\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^2 \right)$$

holds. In [13], [14] the solution was found by Galerkin method. Repeating literally the arguments from [13] one gets the following estimate for $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}$:

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \le c (\|\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2}
+ \|\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|U_{3}^{(N-1)}\nabla(U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha\Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)})\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2}
+ \|\operatorname{curl} \left(U_{3}^{(N-1)}\nabla(U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha\Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)})\right)\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\mathbf{u}'_{0}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma)}^{2}).$$
(5.57)

It is easy to show using Sobolev Embedding Theorem that

$$||U_{3}^{(N-1)}\nabla(U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha\Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)})||_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} \leq c\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}||U_{3}^{(N-1)}||_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{4} + ||U_{3}^{(N-1)}||_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^{T})}^{4}\right).$$
(5.58)

Let us estimate the second term in (5.57) containing $U_3^{(N-1)}$. We have²

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{curl}(U_3^{(N-1)} \nabla (U_3^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_3^{(N-1)})) = U_3^{(N-1)} \operatorname{curl}(\nabla (U_3^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_3^{(N-1)})) \\ & + \nabla U_3^{(N-1)} \times \nabla (U_3^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_3^{(N-1)}) = \nabla U_3^{(N-1)} \times \nabla (U_3^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_3^{(N-1)}). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\operatorname{curl}(U_{3}^{(N-1)} \nabla (U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)}))|^{2} dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla U_{3}^{(N-1)} \times \nabla (U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)})|^{2} dx' d\tau
\leq c \int_{0}^{t} \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\nabla U_{3}^{(N-1)}|^{2} ||\nabla (U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)})||^{2}_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})} d\tau
\leq c \int_{0}^{t} ||\nabla U_{3}^{(N-1)}||^{2}_{W_{2}^{2}(\sigma)} ||\nabla (U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)})||^{2}_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})} d\tau
\leq c \sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||U_{3}^{(N-1)}||^{2}_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} ||U_{3}^{(N-1)}||^{2}_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^{T})}
\leq c \left(\sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||U_{3}^{(N-1)}||^{4}_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} + ||U_{3}^{(N-1)}||^{4}_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^{T})}\right).$$
(5.59)

Estimate (5.55) follows from (5.57), (5.58) and (5.59). \Box

Remark 5.2. It follows from estimate (5.55) that Cauchy problem for system (5.52) has a unique solution $c_k^{(N)}(t), k = 1, ..., N$, (see, for example, [83]), and, thus, functions $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}$ can be uniquely determined from (5.52) if we already know $U_3^{(N-1)}$.

Let us consider now the approximations $(U_3^{(N)}(x',t),q^{(N)}(t))$. Suppose that $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \in$

²These calculations have sense because the elements w_k of the basis belong to the space $W_2^4(\sigma)$ (see Theorem 2.2).

 $\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ in (5.51) is given and

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)} + \|\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)} < \infty.$$

Because of (5.11) and Sobolev Embedding Theorem it follows that

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}| + \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{U}'^{(N)}| \right) \le c \sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}||_{W_2^3(\sigma)}
\le c \sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}||_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}.$$
(5.60)

Suppose that the vector $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}$ is "sufficiently small":

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}| + \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}| \right) \le C_0 \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)} \le \delta_0, \tag{5.61}$$

where δ_0 will be determined below.

We look for the approximate solution $(U_3^{(N)}(x',t),q^{(N)}(t))$ in the form

$$(U_3^{(N)}(x',t),q^{(N)}(t)) = (v^{(N)}(x',t),0) + (V^{(N)}(x',t),q^{(N)}(t)),$$

where
$$v^{(N)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} z_k^{(N)}(t) w_k(x')$$
 and $V^{(N)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} y_k^{(N)}(t) w_k(x')$.

Coefficients $z_k^{(N)}(t)$ are found as solutions of the following problem

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt} z_k^{(N)}(t) + \nu \int_{\sigma} \nabla v^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k dx' \\
+ \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k (v^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta v^{(N)}) dx' = f_{3k}(t), \\
z_k^{(N)}(0) = v_{0k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, N, \quad N \ge 1,
\end{cases}$$
(5.62)

The unique solvability of this Cauchy problem follows from Lemma 5.4 with $\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{U}'^{(N)}$. Coefficients $y_k^{(N)}(t)$ are found as solutions of the following Cauchy problems

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt}y_{k}^{(N)}(t) + \nu \int_{\sigma} \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_{k} dx' \\
+ \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_{k} (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) dx' = q^{(N)}(t) \int_{\sigma} w_{k} dx', \\
y_{k}^{(N)}(0) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, N, \quad N \ge 1.
\end{cases} (5.63)$$

The functions $q^{(N)}(t)$ are chosen so that $V^{(N)}(x',t)$ would satisfy flux condition (5.53),

i.e.,

$$\int_{\sigma} V^{(N)}(x',t)dx' = \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) = F(t) - \int_{\sigma} v^{(N)}(x',t)dx' - \alpha^{(N)},$$
 (5.64)

where $\alpha^{(N)} = \int_{\sigma} (v_0 - v_0^{(N)}) dx'$. We notice, that $\alpha^{(N)} \to 0$ as $N \to \infty$, and that there holds the compatibility condition

$$\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(0) = 0 \quad \forall N \ge 1. \tag{5.65}$$

The Cauchy problem (5.63) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}y_k^{(N)}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^N (\frac{\nu}{\alpha} + m_{kj}(t))y_k^{(N)}(t) = q^{(N)}(t)\beta_k, \\ y_k^{(N)}(0) = 0, \quad k = 1, ..., N, \end{cases}$$

where $m_{kj}(t) = -\int_{\sigma} (\frac{\nu}{\alpha} w_k w_j - (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) w_j (w_k - \alpha \Delta w_k)) dx'$, $\beta_k = \int_{\sigma} w_k dx'$, or in the vector form

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt}\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t) + (\mathbb{J}^{(N)} + \mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t))\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t) = q^{(N)}(t)\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}, \\
\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(0) = 0,
\end{cases} (5.66)$$

where

$$\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} y_1^{(N)}(t) \\ \dots \\ y_N^{(N)}(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \dots \\ \beta_N \end{pmatrix},$$

 $\mathbb{J}^{(N)} = \operatorname{diag}(\frac{\nu}{\alpha}, ..., \frac{\nu}{\alpha})$ - diagonal matrix, $\mathbb{A}^{(N)}$ is $(N \times N)$ matrix with elements $m_{kj}(t)$.

Lemma 5.4. Suppose that $q^{(N)} \in L_2(0,T)$ and $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ satisfies (5.61) with sufficiently small δ_0 and condition (5.65) holds. Then there exist a unique solution $\mathbf{Y}^{(N)} \in W_2^1(0,T)$ of Cauchy problem (5.66).

The proof of this lemma literally repeats the proof of Lemma 5.4.

The fundamental matrix $\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(t)$ of problem (5.66) is the solution of the matrix Cauchy problem

$$\mathbb{Z}^{(N)'}(t) + (\mathbb{J}^{(N)} + \mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t))\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(t) = \mathbb{O}, \quad \mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(0) = \mathbb{E}^{(N)}, \tag{5.67}$$

where $\mathbb{E}^{(N)}$ is the unit matrix and \mathbb{O} is zero matrix. The solution $\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t)$ of problem (5.66) can be represented in the form

$$\mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(t)(\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(\tau))^{-1} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)} q^{(N)}(\tau) d\tau.$$
 (5.68)

We find the functions $q^{(N)}(t)$ from flux condition (5.64). Substituting $V^{(N)}(x',t)$ into (5.64) gives

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) &= \int\limits_{\sigma} V^{(N)}(x',t) dx' = \sum_{k=1}^{N} y_k^{(N)}(t) \int\limits_{\sigma} w_k(x') dx' = \mathbf{Y}^{(N)}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)} \cdot \int\limits_{0}^{t} \mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(t) (\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(\tau))^{-1} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)} q^{(N)}(\tau) d\tau. \end{split}$$

Thus, $q^{(N)}(t)$ has to be found as the solution of the Volterra integral equation of the first kind

$$\int_{0}^{t} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)} \cdot \mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(t) (\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(\tau))^{-1} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)} q^{(N)}(\tau) d\tau = \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t).$$

Differentiating the last equation and using (5.67), we reduce it to the Volterra integral equation of the second kind

$$-\int_{0}^{t} \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}}{|\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}|^{2}} \cdot (\mathbb{J}^{(N)} + \mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t))\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(t)(\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(\tau))^{-1}\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}q^{(N)}(\tau)d\tau + q^{(N)}(t) = \frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}|^{2}} \frac{d}{dt}\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)$$
(5.69)

with the kernel

$$\mathcal{K}^{(N)}(t,\tau) = \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}}{|\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}|^2} \cdot (\mathbb{J}^{(N)} + \mathbb{A}^{(N)}(t))\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(t)(\mathbb{Z}^{(N)}(\tau))^{-1}\boldsymbol{\beta}^{(N)}.$$

For any fixed N the kernel $\mathcal{K}^{(N)}(t,\tau)$ is bounded for all $0 \leq \tau \leq t$ and, hence, $\mathcal{K}^{(N)} \in L_2(\mathbb{Q}^T)$, $\mathbb{Q}^T = (0,T) \times (0,T)$. Therefore, for any $\frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{F}^{(N)} \in L_2(0,T)$ there exists a unique solution $q^{(N)} \in L_2(0,T)$ of integral equation (5.69) and the following estimate

$$||q^{(N)}||_{L_2(0,T)} \le C_N ||\frac{d}{dt}\widetilde{F}^{(N)}||_{L_2(0,T)}$$
 (5.70)

holds (see, for example, [84]). The constant C_N in (5.70) depends on the kernel $\mathcal{K}^{(N)}(t,\tau)$, and we cannot say in advance that C_N stay bounded as $N \to \infty$. In the next section we will prove uniform with respect to N estimates for $(V^{(N)}(x',t),q^{(N)}(t))$.

5.4 A priori estimates for inverse problem (5.8)

Lemma 5.5. Suppose that $\partial \sigma \in C^4$, $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ is given and satisfies condition (5.61) with sufficiently small δ_0 , $\widetilde{F}^{(N)} \in W_2^1(0,T)$ and satisfies condition (5.65). Then for $(V^{(N)}(x',t),q^{(N)}(t))$ the following estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|V^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|V^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|q^{(N)}\|_{L_2(0,T)}^2 \le c \|\widetilde{F}^{(N)}\|_{W_2^1(0,T)}^2.$$
 (5.71)

holds. Here the constant c is independent of N.

Proof. Multiply equalities (5.63) by $y_k^{(N)}(t)$ and sum them by k from 1 to N:

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|V^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx'
= q^{(N)}(t) \int_{\sigma} V^{(N)} dx' + \alpha \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) V^{(N)} \Delta V^{(N)} dx'
\leq |q^{(N)}(t)\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)| + \alpha \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}| ||\nabla V^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)} ||\Delta V^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)}
\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} |q^{(N)}(t)|^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)|^2
+ c\delta_0 ||\nabla V^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)} (||\nabla (V^{(N)} - \Delta V^{(N)})||_{L_2(\sigma)} + ||\nabla V^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)})
\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} |q^{(N)}(t)|^2 + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)|^2
+ c_1 \delta_0 ||\nabla V^{(N)}||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 + c\delta_0 ||\nabla (V^{(N)} - \Delta V^{(N)})||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2.$$

Here we have applied Cauchy inequality with $\varepsilon > 0$, inequalities (5.9), (5.61), and the fact that

$$\frac{d}{dt}y_k^{(N)}(t) = \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}U_3^{(N)}w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t}U_3^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k\right) dx'.$$

If $c_1 \delta_0 \leq \frac{\nu}{2}$, then the last inequality yields

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|V^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx'
\leq c \delta_0 ||\nabla (V^{(N)} - \Delta V^{(N)})||_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 + \varepsilon |q^{(N)}(t)|^2 + c |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)|^2.$$
(5.72)

Denote

$$\Phi^{(N)}(x',t) = (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla)(V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) - \nu \Delta V^{(N)} - q^{(N)}(t). \tag{5.73}$$

Since the eigenfunctions $w_k \in W_2^4(\sigma)$, it follows that $\Phi^{(N)} \in W_2^1(\sigma)$.

Let us rewrite equalities (5.63) in the form

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k \right) dx' + \int_{\sigma} \Phi^{(N)} w_k dx' = 0.$$
 (5.74)

From this point, following the ideas of [13], [15], we will use the specific form of the basis $\{w_k\}_{k>1}$. Denote by $W^{(N)}(\cdot,t) \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma) \cap W_2^3(\sigma)$ the solution of the following problem

$$\begin{cases} -\alpha \Delta W^{(N)} + W^{(N)} = \Phi^{(N)}, \\ W^{(N)}|_{\partial \sigma} = 0. \end{cases}$$
 (5.75)

Then

$$\int_{\sigma} (\alpha \nabla W^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \eta + W^{(N)} \eta) dx' = \int_{\sigma} \Phi^{(N)} \eta dx' \quad \forall \, \eta \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma). \tag{5.76}$$

Taking in (5.76) $\eta = w_k$, from (5.74) we obtain the relations

$$\int_{\sigma} (\frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k) dx' + \int_{\sigma} (W^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla W^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k) dx' = 0.$$

Using the definition of the eigenfunctions w_k (see (5.13)) we can rewrite the last equalities in the form

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\lambda_k}\int\limits_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k + \nabla (\frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)}) \cdot \nabla (\frac{\partial}{\partial t} w_k - \alpha \Delta \frac{\partial}{\partial t} w_k) dx' \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda_k}\int\limits_{\sigma} \left(W^{(N)} w_k + \alpha \nabla W^{(N)} \cdot \nabla w_k + \nabla (\frac{\partial}{\partial t} W^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta \frac{\partial}{\partial t} W^{(N)}) \cdot \nabla (\frac{\partial}{\partial t} w_k - \alpha \Delta \frac{\partial}{\partial t} w_k) dx' = 0. \end{split}$$

Multiplying these relations by $\lambda_k y_k^{(N)}(t)$ and summing from 1 to N yields

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int\limits_{\sigma}\left(|V^{(N)}|^2+\alpha|\nabla V^{(N)}|^2+|\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})|^2\right)dx'\\ &+\int\limits_{\sigma}\left(W^{(N)}V^{(N)}+\alpha\nabla W^{(N)}\cdot\nabla V^{(N)}\right)dx'\\ &+\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla(W^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta W^{(N)})\cdot\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})dx'=0. \end{split}$$

From (5.75), (5.76) it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|V^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 + |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2) dx'
+ \int_{\sigma} \Phi^{(N)} V^{(N)} dx' + \int_{\sigma} \nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) \cdot \nabla \Phi^{(N)} dx' = 0.$$
(5.77)

Substituting the expression (5.73) of $\Phi^{(N)}$ into (5.77) gives

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int\limits_{\sigma}\left(|V^{(N)}|^2+\alpha|\nabla V^{(N)}|^2+|\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})|^2\right)dx'\\ &+\alpha\int\limits_{\sigma}\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\cdot\nabla V^{(N)}\Delta V^{(N)}dx'+\nu\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla V^{(N)}|^2dx'\\ &+\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla\left[(\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\cdot\nabla)(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})\right]\cdot\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})dx'\\ &+\frac{\sigma}{\alpha}\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})|^2dx'\\ &-\frac{\nu}{\alpha}\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla V^{(N)}\cdot\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})dx'=q^{(N)}(t)\int\limits_{\sigma}V^{(N)}dx'. \end{split} \tag{5.78}$$

The fourth integral in (5.78) contains the term having fourth order derivatives of $V^{(N)}$. However, it can be estimated by the integral containing derivatives of $V^{(N)}$ only up to the third order. The calculations below are correct because elements w_k of the basis belong to the space $W_2^4(\sigma)$. Denote for simplicity $V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)} = R^{(N)}$ and $\{\nabla \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla\} = \nabla U_1^{(N)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \nabla U_2^{(N)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}$. Integrating by parts and applying (5.61) we obtain

$$\int_{\sigma} \nabla \left((\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla) (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) \right) \cdot \nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) dx'$$

$$= \int_{\sigma} \nabla \left((\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla) R^{(N)} \right) \cdot \nabla R^{(N)} dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{ \nabla \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla \} R^{(N)} \cdot \nabla R^{(N)} dx'$$

$$+ \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla) \nabla R^{(N)} \cdot \nabla R^{(N)} dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{ \nabla \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla \} R^{(N)} \cdot \nabla R^{(N)} dx'$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla) |\nabla R^{(N)}|^{2} dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{ \nabla \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla \} R^{(N)} \cdot \nabla R^{(N)} dx'$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} |\nabla R^{(N)}|^{2} dx' = \int_{\sigma} \{ \nabla \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)} \cdot \nabla \} R^{(N)} \cdot \nabla R^{(N)} dx'$$

$$\leq c \int_{\sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}| |\nabla R^{(N)}|^{2} dx' \leq c \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}| \int_{\sigma} |\nabla R^{(N)}|^{2} dx'$$

$$\leq c \delta_{0} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla R^{(N)}|^{2} dx' = c \delta_{0} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)} - \alpha \nabla \Delta V^{(N)}|^{2} dx'.$$

Using (5.79) from (5.78) we derive the estimate

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int\limits_{\sigma}\left(|V^{(N)}|^2+\alpha|\nabla V^{(N)}|^2+|\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})|^2\right)dx'\\ &+\nu\int\limits_{\sigma}|\nabla V^{(N)}|^2dx'+\frac{\nu}{\alpha}\int_{\sigma}|\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})|^2dx'\\ &=\alpha\int\limits_{\sigma}\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\cdot\nabla\Delta V^{(N)}V^{(N)}dx'+\frac{\nu}{\alpha}\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla V^{(N)}\cdot\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})dx'\\ &+\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla\left((\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\cdot\nabla)(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})\right)\cdot\nabla(V^{(N)}-\alpha\Delta V^{(N)})dx' \end{split}$$

$$+q^{(N)}(t) \int_{\sigma} V^{(N)} dx' \leq \alpha \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}| \|\nabla \Delta V^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \|V^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} + \frac{\nu}{\alpha} \|\nabla V^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \|\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} + |q^{(N)}(t)\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)| + c\delta_{0} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^{2} dx' \leq \left(c_{2}\delta_{0} + \frac{\mu}{2}\right) \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \Delta V^{(N)})|^{2} dx' + \left(c_{3}\delta_{0} + \frac{1}{2\mu}\right) \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^{2} dx' + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} |q^{(N)}(t)|^{2} + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)|^{2}.$$

Taking $\mu = \frac{\nu}{4\alpha}$ and assuming that δ_0 is sufficiently small: $c_2\delta_0 \leq \frac{\nu}{4\alpha}$, $c_3\delta_0 \leq \frac{\nu}{2}$, from the latter inequality we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} (|V^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 + |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx'
+ \frac{\nu}{\alpha} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2 dx' \le c (|\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)|^2 + \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx') + \varepsilon |q^{(N)}(t)|^2.$$
(5.80)

Integrating inequality (5.72) with respect to t yields

$$\int_{\sigma} (|V^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2) dx' + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau$$

$$\leq c \delta_0 \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2 dx' d\tau + \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau + c \int_{0}^{t} |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau. \tag{5.81}$$

On the other hand, integrating inequality (5.80) and applying (5.81) we derive

$$\int_{\sigma} (|V^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla V^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^{2}) dx'
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^{2} dx' d\tau + \frac{\nu}{\alpha} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^{2} dx' d\tau
\leq c \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau + c \int_{0}^{t} |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau + c_{4} \delta_{0} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^{2} dx' d\tau.$$
(5.82)

If $c_4\delta_0 \leq \frac{1}{2}$, then from (5.82) follows the estimate

$$\int_{\sigma} (|V^{(N)}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla V^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^{2}) dx'
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\nu |\nabla V^{(N)}|^{2} + |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^{2}) dx' d\tau
\leq c \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau + c \int_{0}^{t} |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau.$$
(5.83)

Multiply equalities (5.63) by $\frac{d}{dt}y_k^{(N)}(t)$ and sum them by k from 1 to N:

$$\begin{split} &\int\limits_{\sigma} \left(|\frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)}|^2 + \alpha |\nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)}|^2 \right) dx' + \frac{\nu}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx' \\ &= \int\limits_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} dx' + \int\limits_{\sigma} q^{(N)}(t) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} dx' \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \sup_{x' \in \sigma} |\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}|^2 \int\limits_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2 dx' + \frac{1}{2} \int\limits_{\sigma} |\frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)}|^2 dx' \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{2} |q^{(N)}(t)|^2 dx' + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} |\frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)|^2. \end{split}$$

Integrating this inequality with respect to t and applying (5.61) and (5.83) we get

$$\nu \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^{2} dx' + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\left| \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V^{(N)} \right|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V^{(N)}|^{2} \right) dx' d\tau
\leq c \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} dx' d\tau + c \int_{0}^{t} \left| \frac{d}{d\tau} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau) \right|^{2} d\tau.$$
(5.84)

Let $\omega \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\sigma)$ be the solution of the Dirichlet problem for the Poisson equation on σ :

$$\begin{cases}
-\Delta\omega(x') = 1, \\
\omega(x')|_{\partial\sigma} = 0.
\end{cases} (5.85)$$

If $\partial \sigma \in C^2$, then $\omega \in W_2^2(\sigma)$, and $\omega(x')$ can be expressed by the Fourier series

$$\omega(x') = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \gamma_k w_k(x'), \quad \gamma_k = \int_{\sigma} \omega(x') w_k(x') dx',$$

which converges in the space $W_2^2(\sigma)$. Multiply (5.63) by γ_k and sum obtained relations from 1 to N:

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \omega^{(N)}(x') + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \omega^{(N)} \right) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \omega^{(N)} dx'
+ \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) \omega^{(N)} dx' = q^{(N)}(t) \int_{\sigma} \omega^{(N)} dx',$$
(5.86)

where $\omega^{(N)}(x') = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \gamma_k w_k(x')$. In virtue of (5.85) and the flux condition (5.53) we have

$$\int \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \omega^{(N)} dx' = \int \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \omega dx' + \int \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx'$$

$$= -\int_{\sigma} V^{(N)} \Delta \omega dx' + \int_{\sigma} \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx'$$
$$= \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) + \int_{\sigma} \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx',$$

and, analogously,

$$\int\limits_{\sigma} \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \omega^{(N)} dx' = \frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) + \int\limits_{\sigma} \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx'.$$

Therefore, relation (5.86) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} &\int\limits_{\sigma} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \omega^{(N)} dx' + \alpha \frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) + \alpha \int\limits_{\sigma} \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx' \\ &+ \nu \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) + \nu \int\limits_{\sigma} \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx' \\ &+ \int\limits_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) \omega^{(N)} dx' = q^{(N)}(t) \int\limits_{\sigma} \omega^{(N)} dx'. \end{split}$$

Let us estimate the functions $q^{(N)}(t)$. From the last equality it follows that

$$\kappa_{0}q^{(N)}(t) = \int_{\sigma} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \omega^{(N)} dx' + \alpha \frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t) + \nu \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)
+ \alpha \int_{\sigma} \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial t} V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla(\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx' + \nu \int_{\sigma} \nabla V^{(N)} \cdot \nabla(\omega^{(N)} - \omega) dx'
+ \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)}) \omega^{(N)} dx' + q^{(N)}(t) \int_{\sigma} (\omega - \omega^{(N)}) dx',$$

where $\kappa_0 = \int_{\tau} \omega(x') dx' > 0$. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} &\kappa_0^2 \int\limits_0^t |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau \leq c \Big(\int\limits_\sigma |\omega^{(N)}|^2 dx' \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\sigma |\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau + \alpha^2 \int\limits_0^t |\frac{d}{d\tau} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau \\ &+ \nu^2 \int\limits_0^t |\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau + \alpha^2 \int\limits_\sigma |\nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega)|^2 dx' \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\sigma |\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx' \\ &+ \nu^2 \int\limits_\sigma |\nabla (\omega^{(N)} - \omega)|^2 dx' \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\sigma |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx' \\ &+ \Big(\sup_{x' \in \overline{\sigma}} |\omega^{(N)}(x')|^2 \Big) \sup_{\tau \in [0,t]} \Big(\int\limits_\sigma |\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}|^2 dx' \Big) \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\sigma |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2 dx' d\tau \\ &+ \int\limits_\sigma |\nabla (\omega - \omega^{(N)})|^2 dx' \int\limits_0^t |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau. \Big) \end{split}$$

Since $\|\omega - \omega^{(N)}\|_{W_2^1(\sigma)} \to 0$ as $N \to \infty$, the last inequality and (5.61) yield

$$\int_{0}^{t} |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau \leq c \left(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V^{(N)} \right|^{2} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \left| \frac{d}{d\tau} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau) \right|^{2} d\tau \right. \\
+ \int_{0}^{t} \left(|\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta' V^{(N)})|^{2} dx' d\tau d\tau \right).$$
(5.87)

On the other hand, from (5.83), (5.84) we establish

$$\int_{\sigma} \left(|V^{(N)}|^2 + (\nu + \alpha) |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 + |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2 \right) dx'
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla V^{(N)}|^2 dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla (V^{(N)} - \alpha \Delta V^{(N)})|^2 dx' d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (|\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V|^2 + |\nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} V|^2) dx' d\tau
\leq c \int_{0}^{t} \left(|\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 + |\frac{d}{d\tau} \widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 \right) d\tau + c \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^2 d\tau.$$
(5.88)

For sufficiently small ε from (5.87) and (5.88) follows the estimate

$$\int_{0}^{t} |q^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau \le c \int_{0}^{t} (|\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2} + |\frac{d}{d\tau}\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(\tau)|^{2}) d\tau.$$
 (5.89)

Estimate (5.71) is the consequence of (5.83), (5.84), (5.89) and the definitions of the norms. \Box

From Lemmas 5.1 and 5.2 follows

Lemma 5.6. Suppose that $\partial \sigma \in C^4$, $f_3 \in W_2^{1,0}(\sigma^T)$, $v_0 \in W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$, $F \in W_2^1(0,T)$, $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ are given and $\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}$ satisfy condition (5.61) with sufficiently small δ_0 . Assume that the necessary compatibility condition $F(0) = \int_{\sigma} v_0(x') dx'$ is valid. Then for the approximate solution $(U_3^{(N)}(x',t),q^{(N)}(t))$ the following estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|U_3^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|U_3^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|q^{(N)}\|_{L_2(0,T)}^2
\leq C_3 (\|f_3\|_{W_2^{1,0}(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|F\|_{W_2^1(0,T)}^2 + \|v_0\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^2)$$
(5.90)

holds. The constant C_3 in (5.90) is independent of N.

Proof. The approximate solution $(U_3^{(N)}, q^{(N)})$ has the form $(U_3^{(N)}, q^{(N)}) = (v^{(N)}, 0) + (V^{(N)}, q^{(N)})$ (see Section 5.2), where for $(V^{(N)}, q^{(N)})$ holds estimate (5.71) and for $v^{(N)}$ -

estimate (5.30). Hence, to prove (5.90) we have only to estimate the norm of $\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)$. The functions $\widetilde{F}^{(N)}(t)$ are defined by (5.64). Therefore,

$$\|\widetilde{F}^{(N)}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} \leq c \left(\|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \left(\|v^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|\frac{\partial}{\partial t}v^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2}\right) d\tau + \int_{0}^{T} |\alpha_{N}|^{2} d\tau \right) \leq c \left(\|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} + \|f_{3}\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|v_{0}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2}\right).$$

$$(5.91)$$

Here we have used (5.25) and the obvious estimate

$$\int_{0}^{T} |\alpha_{N}|^{2} d\tau \le T |\alpha_{N}|^{2} = T \left(\int_{\sigma} \left(v_{0} - v_{0}^{(N)} \right) dx' \right)^{2} \le T |\sigma| \|v_{0} - v_{0}^{(N)}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \le c \|v_{0}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2}.$$

Inequality (5.90) follows from (5.25), (5.71) and (5.91). \square

Theorem 5.4. Suppose that $\partial \sigma \in C^4$, $\mathbf{u}'_0, v_0 \in W_2^3(\sigma) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\sigma)$, $F \in W_2^1(0,T)$, $\mathbf{f}' \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f}' \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $f_3 \in W_2^{1,0}(\sigma^T)$ and that the necessary compatibility condition

$$F(0) = \int_{\sigma} v_0(x') dx'$$

is valid. Assume that the data satisfy the conditions

$$\|\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\mathbf{u}'_{0}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2} \leq \mu_{0}\delta_{0}^{2},$$

$$\|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} + \|f_{3}\|_{W_{0}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|v_{0}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2} \leq \mu_{0}\delta_{0}^{2},$$

$$(5.92)$$

where

$$\mu_0 = \min\left\{\frac{1}{C_1 C_0^2}, \frac{1}{2C_2 C_0^2}, 1\right\},\tag{5.93}$$

 C_0 and δ_0 are constants from inequality (5.61), C_1 , C_2 and C_3 are constants from estimates (5.54), (5.55) and (5.90) respectively, δ_0 is "sufficiently small", i.e.,

$$C_3 \delta_0 < 1, \tag{5.94}$$

and such that Lemma 5.3 is valid. Then the approximate solution $(\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}, U_3^{(N)}, q^{(N)}) \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T) \times \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T) \times L_2(0,T)$ of problem (5.8) satisfies the following estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\| \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \| U_{3}^{(N)} \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2} \right) + \| \mathbf{U}'^{(N)} \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \| U_{3}^{(N)} \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^{T})}^{2}
+ \| q^{(N)} \|_{L_{2}(0,T)}^{2} \le c \left(\| \mathbf{f}' \|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \| \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{f}' \|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \| \mathbf{u}'_{0} \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2}
+ \left(\| f_{3} \|_{W_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \| v_{0} \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \| F \|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} \right) \times
\times \left(1 + \| f_{3} \|_{W_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \| v_{0} \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \| F \|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} \right) \right).$$
(5.95)

Proof. For the approximation $\mathbf{U}'^{(1)}(x',t)$ holds inequality (5.54) and from condition (5.93) we see that $\mathbf{U}'^{(1)}(x',t)$ satisfies inequality (5.61), i.e.,

$$C_0 \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}'^{(1)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)} \le \delta_0.$$

Therefore, we can find $(U_3^{(1)}, q^{(1)})$ and by (5.90)

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|U_3^{(1)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|U_3^{(1)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)}^2 \le C_3 (\|f_3\|_{W_2^{1,0}(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|F\|_{W_2^1(0,T)}^2 + \|v_0\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^2) \le C_3 \mu_0 \delta_0^2.$$

Now, applying successively inequalities (5.55) and (5.90), and using (5.92), (5.93), (5.94) we obtain the estimates

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|U_3^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|U_3^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)}^2 \leq C_3 \mu_0 \delta_0^2 \quad \, \forall N \geq 1,$$

$$C_0^2 \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^2 \le \delta_0^2 C_0^2 C_2 \mu_0 (1 + C_3^2 \mu_0 \delta_0^2) \le \delta_0^2 \qquad \forall N \ge 1.$$

Thus, condition (5.61) is valid for all $N \geq 1$. Therefore, Galerkin approximations $\left(\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}, U_3^{(N)}, q^{(N)}\right)$ are defined $\forall N \geq 1$. Estimate (5.95) follows from (5.55) and (5.90).

Remark 5.3. In the case when $\mathbf{u}'_0 = 0$, $\mathbf{f}' = 0$ (i.e., the external force and the initial velocity are directed along the axis of the cylinder) from inequalities (5.90) and (5.92) we get

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|U_3^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|U_3^{(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)}^2 + \|q^{(N)}\|_{L_2(0,T)}^2 \le C_3 \mu_0 \delta_0^2. \tag{5.96}$$

Substituting (5.96) into inequality (5.55) we obtain

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^2 + \|\mathbf{U}^{\prime(N)}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)}^2 \le C_2 C_3^2 \mu_0^2 \delta_0^4.$$
 (5.97)

Estimates (5.96), (5.97) shows, in particular, that the velocity components $U_1^{(N)}$ and $U_2^{(N)}$ are secondary in comparison with the axial velocity $U_3^{(N)}$.

5.5 Existence and uniqueness of the solution to inverse problem (5.8)

Theorem 5.5. Suppose that $\partial \sigma \in C^4$, and the data $\mathbf{u}_0(x')$, $\mathbf{f}(x',t)$, F(t) satisfy the condition of Theorem 5.4. Then problem (5.8) admits a unique weak solution $(\mathbf{U}', U_3, q) \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T) \times \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T) \times L_2(0,T)$ and the following estimate

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\|\mathbf{U}'\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|U_{3}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2} \right) + \|\mathbf{U}'\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|U_{3}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|q\|_{L_{2}(0,T)}^{2} \\
\leq c \left(\|\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{f}'\|_{L_{2}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|\mathbf{u}'_{0}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)}^{2} \\
+ \left(\|f_{3}\|_{W_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|v_{0}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} \right) \times \\
\times \left(1 + \|f_{3}\|_{W_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T})}^{2} + \|v_{0}\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)}^{2} + \|F\|_{W_{2}^{1}(0,T)}^{2} \right) \right). \tag{5.98}$$

holds.

Proof. Let $\boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} = (\boldsymbol{\eta}'^{(M)}, \eta_3^{(M)})$ with

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}^{\prime(M)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{M} d_k(t) \mathbf{w}_k(x'), \quad \eta_3^{(M)}(x',t) = \sum_{k=1}^{M} g_k(t) w_k(x'), \quad (5.99)$$

where $d_k(t)$ and $g_k(t)$ are arbitrary functions from $C^{\infty}[0,T]$. Multiplying equalities (5.50), (5.52) by $d_k(t)$ and (5.51) by $g_k(t)$, integrating by t, summing these relations by k from 1 to M ($M \leq N$), and then summing the obtained integral identities, we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U}^{(N)} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U}^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} \right) dx' d\tau
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla \mathbf{U}^{(N)} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}^{(N)} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} dx' d\tau
+ \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}^{(N)} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}^{(N)} dx' d\tau - \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\eta_{3}^{(M)} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}^{(N)} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}^{(N)} dx' d\tau
+ \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla U_{3}^{(N-1)} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} (U_{3}^{(N-1)} - \alpha \Delta U_{3}^{(N-1)}) dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{f}^{(N)} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} q^{(N)} \eta_{3}^{(M)} dx' d\tau.$$
(5.100)

From inequality (5.95) it follows that the sequence $\{\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}\}_{N\geq 1}$ is bounded in the space $\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$, $\{U_3^{(N)}\}_{N\geq 1}$ is bounded in $\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$ and $\{q^{(N)}\}_{N\geq 1}$ is bounded in $L_2(0,T)$. Moreover, for almost all $t\in (0,T)$ the sequences $\{\mathbf{U}'^{(N)}(\cdot,t)\}_{N\geq 1}$ and $\{U_3^{(N)}(\cdot,t)\}_{N\geq 1}$ are bounded in $\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma)$ and $\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$, respectively. Therefore, there exist subsequences $\{\mathbf{U}'^{(N_l)}\}$, $\{U_3^{(N_l)}\}$ and $\{q^{(N_l)}\}$ such that

$$\mathbf{U}'^{(N_l)}(\cdot,t) \to \mathbf{U}'(\cdot,t) \quad \text{in } \mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma), \text{ for almost all } t \in (0,T),$$

$$U_3^{(N_l)}(\cdot,t) \to U_3(\cdot,t) \quad \text{in } \mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma) \text{ for almost all } t \in (0,T),$$

$$\mathbf{U}'^{(N_l)} \to \mathbf{U}' \text{ in } \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T), \quad U_3^{(N_l)} \to U_3 \text{ in } \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T),$$

$$q^{(N_l)}(t) \to q(t) \quad \text{in } L_2(0,T).$$

Let us fix $\eta^{(M)}$ in (5.100). Using Sobolev Embedding Theorem it is easy to prove that passing in (5.100) to a limit as $N_l \to \infty$ we get the following integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} \right) dx' d\tau
+ \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla \mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} dx' d\tau
+ \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U} dx' d\tau - \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U} dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \mathbf{f} \boldsymbol{\eta}^{(M)} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} q \eta_{3}^{(M)} dx' d\tau.$$
(5.101)

The eigenfunctions $\mathbf{w}_k(x')$ constitute basis in $\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)$ and $w_k(x')$ constitute basis in $\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)$. Therefore, the linear combinations $\boldsymbol{\eta}'^{(M)}(x',t)$ and $\eta_3^{(M)}(x',t)$ (see (5.99)) are dense in $\mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T)$ and $\mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$, respectively, and we can conclude that the integral identity (5.101) is valid for arbitrary $\boldsymbol{\eta} = (\boldsymbol{\eta}', \eta_3) \in \mathring{\mathcal{V}}(\sigma^T) \times \mathring{\mathcal{W}}(\sigma^T)$. Moreover, U_3 satisfies flux condition (5.46). Hence, by the definition (\mathbf{U}, q) is a weak solution of problem (5.8). Obviously, for the limit functions \mathbf{U}', U_3, q estimate (5.95) remains valid, i.e., we get estimate (5.98).

Let us prove the uniqueness. Assume that $(\mathbf{U}^{[1]}, q^{[1]})$ and $(\mathbf{U}^{[2]}, q^{[2]})$ are two weak solutions of problem (5.8). The differences $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{U}^{[2]} - \mathbf{U}^{[1]}, S = q^{[2]} - q^{[1]}$ satisfy the integral identity

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{V} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} + \alpha \nabla \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} \right) dx' d\tau + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \nabla \mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\eta} dx' d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left((\mathbf{U}^{[1]} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{V} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} + (\mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta} \right) dx' d\tau
+ \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left((\mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}^{[1]} + (\mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{V} \right) dx' d\tau
- \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left((\boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{V} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{U}^{[1]} + (\boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{V} \right) dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} S(t) \int_{\sigma} \eta_{3} dx' d\tau \quad \forall \, \boldsymbol{\eta} \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T}) \text{ with div } \boldsymbol{\eta}' = 0.$$
(5.102)

Take in (5.102) $\eta = V$:

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma} (|\mathbf{V}|^{2} + \alpha |\nabla \mathbf{V}|^{2}) dx' + \nu \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} |\nabla \mathbf{V}|^{2} dx' d\tau
+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \mathbf{V} + \alpha (\mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{V} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{V}
- \alpha (\mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{V}) dx' d\tau = \int_{0}^{t} S(\tau) \int_{\sigma} (U_{3}^{[1]} - U_{3}^{[2]}) dx' d\tau
= \int_{0}^{t} S(\tau) (F(\tau) - F(\tau)) d\tau = 0.$$
(5.103)

Let us estimate the third integral (which we denote J) on the left-hand side of the last equality. We have

$$\left| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla \right) \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \mathbf{V} dx' d\tau \right| \leq \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla \mathbf{U}^{[2]}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \|\mathbf{V}\|_{L_{4}(\sigma)}^{2} d\tau \leq c \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla \mathbf{U}^{[2]}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} \|\nabla \mathbf{V}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} d\tau.$$

Further, integrating by part yields

$$\alpha \Big| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{V} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{V} dx' d\tau \Big|$$

$$= \alpha \Big| \sum_{i=1}^{2} \Big(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \Big(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \nabla \Big) \mathbf{V} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{V} dx' d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \Big(\mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \nabla \Big) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{V} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{V} dx' d\tau \Big) \Big|$$

$$= \alpha \Big| \sum_{i=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \Big(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \nabla \Big) \mathbf{V} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{V} dx' d\tau \Big| \le c \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla \mathbf{U}^{[2]}\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \|\nabla \mathbf{V}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} d\tau$$

and

$$\alpha \Big| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} (\mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \Delta \mathbf{V} \Big) dx' d\tau \Big| = \alpha \Big| \sum_{i=1}^{2} \Big(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\sigma} \Big(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla \Big) \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{V} dx' d\tau \Big|$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} (\mathbf{V} \cdot \nabla) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{U}^{[2]} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \mathbf{V} dx' d\tau \Big) \Big| \leq c \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla \mathbf{U}^{[2]}\|_{L_{\infty}(\sigma)} \|\nabla \mathbf{V}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} d\tau$$

$$+ c \int_{0}^{t} \|\partial_{x'}^{2} \mathbf{U}^{[2]}\|_{L_{4}(\sigma)} \|\mathbf{V}\|_{L_{4}(\sigma)} \|\nabla \mathbf{V}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)} d\tau$$

$$\leq c \int_{0}^{t} \Big(\|\partial_{x'}^{2} \mathbf{U}^{[2]}\|_{L_{\infty}(\sigma)} + \|\partial_{x'}^{2} \mathbf{U}^{[2]}\|_{L_{4}(\sigma)} \Big) \|\nabla \mathbf{V}\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} d\tau.$$

Therefore,

$$|J| \le c \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\|\mathbf{U}^{[2]'}(\cdot,t)\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)} + \|U_3^{[2]}(\cdot,t)\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} \right) \int_0^t \|\nabla \mathbf{V}\|_{L_2(\sigma)}^2 d\tau,$$

and from (5.103) follows the estimate

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{V}(\cdot,t)\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \leq c \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\|\mathbf{U}^{[2]'}(\cdot,t)\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)} + \|U_{3}^{[2]}(\cdot,t)\|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} \right) \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla \mathbf{V}(\cdot,\tau)\|_{L_{2}(\sigma)}^{2} d\tau.$$
(5.104)

Since (5.98)

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\| \mathbf{U}^{[2]'}(\cdot,t) \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{Y}}(\sigma)} + \| U_3^{[2]}(\cdot,t) \|_{\mathring{\mathcal{X}}(\sigma)} \right) \leq const,$$

in virtue of the Gronwall's inequality, estimate (5.104) implies $\mathbf{V}(x',t) = 0 \ \forall t \in [0,T]$ and, therefore, $\mathbf{U}^{[1]} = \mathbf{U}^{[2]}$.

Taking now in (5.102) $\boldsymbol{\eta} = (0, \eta_3)$ such that $\int_{\sigma} \eta_3(x', t) dx' = q^{[1]}(t) - q^{[2]}(t)$, we obtain $0 = \int_{0}^{t} (q^{[1]} - q^{[2]})^2 d\tau$, and $q^{[1]}(t) = q^{[2]}(t)$. \square

Remark 5.4. Using the standard arguments (see, for example, [52]) it can be proved that there exists the unique function $\widetilde{p} = \widetilde{p}(x',t)$ such that $\widetilde{p} \in L_2(\sigma^T)$, $\int_{\sigma} \widetilde{p}(x',t) dx' = 0$ and the following integral identity

$$\begin{split} &\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}(\frac{\partial}{\partial\tau}\mathbf{U}'\cdot\boldsymbol{\eta}'+\alpha\nabla\frac{\partial}{\partial\tau}\mathbf{U}'\cdot\nabla\boldsymbol{\eta}')dx'd\tau+\nu\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla\mathbf{U}'\cdot\nabla\boldsymbol{\eta}'dx'd\tau\\ &+\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}(\mathbf{U}'\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{U}'\cdot\boldsymbol{\eta}'dx'd\tau+\alpha\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}(\mathbf{U}'\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{\eta}'\cdot\triangle\mathbf{U}'dx'd\tau\\ &-\alpha\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}(\boldsymbol{\eta}'\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{U}'\cdot\Delta\mathbf{U}'dx'd\tau+\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}\nabla U_{3}\cdot\boldsymbol{\eta}'(U_{3}-\alpha\triangle U_{3})dx'd\tau\\ &=\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}\widetilde{p}\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\eta}'dx'd\tau+\int\limits_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\sigma}\mathbf{f}'\cdot\boldsymbol{\eta}'dx'd\tau\quad\forall\,\boldsymbol{\eta}'\in\mathring{W}_{2}^{1,0}(\sigma^{T}) \end{split}$$

is valid. The pressure corresponding to the weak solution of problem (5.8) has the form $p(x,t) = \tilde{p}(x',t) + q(t)x_3 + p_0(t)$, where $p_0(t)$ is an arbitrary function.

Conclusions

The second grade fluid flow problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{u} + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}, \\ \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\ \mathbf{u}|_{S^T} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x, 0) = \mathbf{u}_0(x), \\ \int_{\sigma} u_n dx' = F(t) \end{cases}$$

was studied in three different unbounded domains:

- the two-dimensional channel,
- the three-dimensional axially symmetric pipe,
- the three-dimensional pipe with an arbitrary cross section.

In the first two cases the existence of a unique unidirectional Poiseuille type solution is proved and the relation between the flux of the velocity field and the pressure drop (the gradient of the pressure) is found.

The analogous results were obtained for the time periodic problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{u} - \alpha \Delta \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{u} + \nabla \widetilde{p} = \mathbf{f}, \\ \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \\ \mathbf{u}|_{S^T} = 0, \quad \mathbf{u}(x, 0) = \mathbf{u}(x, 2\pi) \\ \int_{\sigma} u_n dx' = F(t), \quad F(0) = F(2\pi) \end{cases}$$

in the two-dimensional channel.

It is shown that in the three-dimensional pipe with an arbitrary cross section the unidirectional solution does not exists even if data are unidirectional. However, for suf-

ficiently small data in this case exists a unique solution having all three components $(u_1(x_1, x_2, t), u_2(x_1, x_2, t), u_3(x_1, x_2, t))$ of the velocity field \mathbf{u} and the velocity components (u_1, u_2) perpendicular to the x_3 -axis of the cylinder are secondary comparing with u_3 .

Bibliography

- [1] Adams R.A., Sobolev spaces, Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London, (1975).
- [2] Aksel N., A brief note from the editor on the second-order fluid, *Acta Mech.*, **157**, 235-236, (2003).
- [3] Amrouche C., Cioranescu D., On a class of fluids of grade 3, Int. J. Non-Linear Mech. 32, 73-88 (1997).
- [4] Ariel P.D., A numerical algorithm for computing the stagnation point flow of a second grade fluid with/without suction, *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, **59** (1), 9-24 (1995).
- [5] Bayin S.S., Essentials of Mathematical Methods in Science and Engineering, Willey, (2008).
- [6] Bandell R., Rajagopal K.R., Galdi G.P., On some unsteady motions of fluids of second grade, Arch. Mech., 47, 661-676 (1995).
- [7] Bandelli R., Rajagopal K.R., Start-up flows of second grade fluids in domains with one finite dimension, *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, **30** (6), 817-839 (1995).
- [8] Baris S., Dokuz M.S., Three-dimensional stagnation point flow of a second grade fluid towards a moving plate, *International Journal of Engineering Science*, **44** (1-2), 49-58 (2006).
- [9] Beirao da Veiga H., On time-periodic solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations in an unbounded cylindrical domains. Lerays problem for periodic flows, Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., 178 (3), 301-325 (2005).
- [10] Benharbit A.M., Siddiqui A.M., Certain solutions of the equations of the planar motion of a second grade fluid for steady and unsteady cases, *Acta Mechanica*, **94** (1-2), 85-96 (1992).
- [11] Buisuioc A.V., Ratiu T.S., The second grade fluid and average Euler equations with Navierslip boundary conditions, *Nonlinearity*, **16**, 1119-1149 (2003).

- [12] Busuioc V., On second grade fluids with vanishing viscosity. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris S'er. I Math., 328 (12), 1241-1246 (1999).
- [13] Cioranescu D., Girault V., Weak and classical solution of family of second grade fluids, International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics, 32 (2), 317-335 (1997).
- [14] Cioranescu D., Quazar E.H., Existence and uniqueness for fluids of second grade, *Note CRAS*, **298** (1), 285-287 (1984).
- [15] Cioranescu D., Quazar E.H., Existence and uniqueness for fluids of second grade, *Nonlinear Partiel Differential Equations*, *College de France Seminar*, Pitman, **109**, 178-197 (1984).
- [16] Chao-Kuang C., Hsin-Yi L., Wei-Fan C., Unsteady Unidirectional Flow of Second-Grade Fluid through a Microtube with Wall Slip and Different Given Volume Flow Rate, *Hindawi Publishing Corporation Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 1-17 (2010).
- [17] Chipot M., Elliptic equations: an introductory course, basisl-Boston-Berlin (2009).
- [18] Coleman B.D., Duffin R.J., Mizel V., Instability, uniqueness and non-existence theorems for the equation $u_t = u_{xx} u_{xtx}$ on a strip, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 19, 100-116 (1965).
- [19] Coscia V., Galdi G.P., Existence of regular steady motions for a second-grade fluid with non-homogeneous boundary conditions, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. St. Peterburg. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov., 243, 118-130 (1997).
- [20] Coscia V., Sequeira A., Videman J.H., Existence and uniqueness of classical solution for a class of complexity 2 fluids, *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.*, **30**, 531-551 (1995).
- [21] Dunn J.E., Fosdick R.L., Thermodynamics, stability and boundedness of fluids of complexity two and fluids of second grade, *Arch. Rational Mech. Anal.*, **56**, 191-252 (1974).
- [22] Erdogan M.E., Imrak C.E., On some unsteady flows of a non-Newtonian fluid, *Applied Mathematical Modelling*, **31**, 170-180 (2007).
- [23] Erdogan M.E., Imrak C.E., Effects of the side walls on the unsteady flow of a second grade fluid in a duct of uniform cross-section, *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.*, **39**, 1379-1384 (2004).
- [24] Erdogan M.E., Diffusion of a line vortex in a second-order fluid, *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.*, **39**, 441-445 (2004).
- [25] Erdogan M.E., On unsteady motion of a second-order fluid over a plane wall, *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.*, **38**, 1045-1051 (2003).
- [26] Evans L.C., Partial differential equations, AMS, Providence (2002).

- [27] Ferrario C., Passerini A., Thater G., Generalization of the Lorenz model to the two dimensional convection of second grade fluid, *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, 39(4), 581-591 (2004).
- [28] Fetecau C., Hayat T., Fetecau C., Ali N., Unsteady flow of a second grade fluid between two side walls perpendicular to a plate, Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications, 9 (3), 1236-1252, (2008).
- [29] Fetecau C., The RayleighStokes problem for heated second grade fluids, *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.*, **37**, 1011-1015 (2002).
- [30] Fetecau C., Zierep J., Decay of a potential vortex and propagation of a heat wave in a second grade fluid, *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.*, **37**, 1051-1056 (2002).
- [31] Fetecau C., Zierep J., On a class of exact solutions of the equations of motion of a second grade fluid, *Acta Mechanica*, **150** (1-2), 135-138 (2001).
- [32] Fosdick R.L., Rajagopal K.R., Thermodynamics and stability of fluids of third grade, *Proc. Royal Soc. London*, **339**, 351-377 (1980).
- [33] Fosdick R.L., Rajagopal K.R., Anomalous features in the model of second order fluids, *Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal.*, **70**, 1-46 (1979).
- [34] Fosdick R.L., Rajagopal K.R., Uniqueness and drag for fluids of second grade in steady motion, Int. J. Non-Linear Mechanics, 13, 131-137 (1978).
- [35] Frater K.R., On the solution of some boundary value problems arising in elastico-viscous fluid mechanics, ZAMP, 21, 134-137 (1970).
- [36] Galdi G.P., Pileckas K., Silvestre A., On the unsteady Poiseuille flow in a pipe, Zeitschrift fur angew. Mathematik und Physik, 58 (6), 994-1007 (2007).
- [37] Galdi G.P., Robertson A.M., The relation between flow rate and axial pressure gradient for time-periodic Poiseuille flow in a pipe, J. Math. Fluid Mech., 7 (2), 215-223 (2005).
- [38] Galdi G.P., Grobbelaar-Van Dalsen M., Sauer N., Existence and uniqueness of solutions of the equations of motion for a fluid of second grade with non-homogeneous boundary conditions, *Int. J. Non-Linear Mech.*, **30**, 701-709 (1995).
- [39] Galdi G.P., Sequeira A., Further existence results for classical solution of the equation of a second grade fluid, *Arch. Rational Mech. Anal.*, **128**, 297-312 (1994).

- [40] Galdi G.P., Grobbelaar-Van Dalsen M., Sauer N., Existence and uniqueness of classical solution of the equation of motion for second grade fluids, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 124, 221-237 (1993).
- [41] Galdi G.P., Padula M., Rajagopal K.R., On the conditional stability of the rest state of fluid of second grade in unbounded domains, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 109, 173-182 (1990).
- [42] Giesekus H., Several comments on the paper some remarks on useful theorems for the second-grade fluid by P.N. Kaloni, J.Non Newtonian Fluid Mech., 33, 343-348 (1989).
- [43] Hussnain S., Mehmood A., Ali A. Three-dimensional channel flow of second grade fluid in rotating frame, *Appl. Math. Mech*, **33** (3), 289-302 (2012).
- [44] Iftimie D., Remarques sur la limite pour les fluides de grade 2, Studies in Mathematics and its Applications, Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations and their Applications, (2002).
- [45] Islam S., Bano Z., Haroon T., Siddiqui A.M., Unsteady Poiseuille flow of second grade fluid in a tube of elliptical cross section, *Proceedings of the romanian academy* 12 (4), 291-295 (2011).
- [46] Klovienė N., On a third order initial boundary value problem in a plane domain, Nonlinear Analysis: Modelling and Control, 17 (3), 312-326 (2012).
- [47] Klovienė N., Pileckas K., Nonstationary Poiseuille type solutions for the second grade fuid flow, *Lithuanian Mathematical Journal*, 52, 155-171 (2012).
- [48] Klovienė N., Pileckas K., The second grade fluid flow problem in an infinite pipe, Asymptotic Analysis, (2012) accepted for publication.
- [49] Klovienė N., Poiseuille type solution of second grade fluid, *Proceedings of the 15th Master and PhD conference IVUS 2010*, 69-73 (2010).
- [50] Klovienė N., Periodic by time the second grade fluid flow in the infinite channel (in lithuanian), Lithuanian Mathematical Journal (conference works), 50, 30-35 (2009).
- [51] Labropulu F., A few more exact solutions of a second grade fluid via inverse method, *Mech. Res. Comm.*, **27** (6), 713-720 (2000).
- [52] Ladyzhenskaya O.A., The Mathematical theory of viscous incompressible fluid, Gordon and Breach (1969).
- [53] Ladyzhenskaya O.A., Solonnikov V.A., Uraltseva N.N., Linear and quasilinear equations of parabolic type, Translation of Mathematical Monographs, 23 (1968).

- [54] Liao S.J., A uniformly valid analytic solution of 2D viscous flow past a semi infinite flat plate, *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, **385**, 101-128 (1999).
- [55] Mehmood A., Ali A., An explicit analytic solution of steady three-dimensional stagnation point flow of second grade fluid toward a heated plate, ASME Journal of Applied Mechanics, 75 (6), 906-1003 (2008).
- [56] Nečas J., Lès mèthodes directes en thèorie des èquations elliptiques, Praque, Academia (1967).
- [57] Oskolkov A.P., On the solvability in the large of the first boundary value problem for a third order quasilinear system encountered in the investigation of the motion of a viscous fluid, J. Soviet Math., 3, 508-521 (1975).
- [58] Oskolkov A.P., On some model nonstationary systems in the theory of non-Newtonian fluids, *Proc. Steklov Inst. Math.*, **127**, 37-66 (1975).
- [59] Oskolkov A.P., The uniqueness and global solvability of boundary value problems for the equations of motion for aqueous solutions of polymers, Zap. Nauch. Sem. Leningrad Otdel. Math. Inst. Steklov (LOMI), 38, 98-136 (1973).
- [60] Passerini A., Videman J.H., Decay in time of kinetic energy of second and third grade fluids in unbounded domains, Trends in Applications of Mathematics to Mechanics, 70, 195-207 (1995).
- [61] Pileckas K., Navier-Stokes system in domains with cylindrical outlets to infinity. Leray's problem, *Handbook of Mathematical Fluid Dynamics*, 4 (8), 445-647 (2007).
- [62] Pileckas K., Existence of solutions with the prescribed flux of the Navier-Stokes system in an infinite pipe, J. Math. Fluid Mech., 8 (4), 542-563 (2006).
- [63] Pileckas K., On behavior of nonstationary Poiseuille solutions as $t \to \infty$, Siberian Math. J., **46** (4), 890-900 (2005).
- [64] Pileckas K., Keblikas V., On the existence of nonstationary Poiseulle solution, Siberian Math. J., 46 (3), 514-526 (2005).
- [65] Pileckas K., Sequeira A., Videman J.H., Steady flows of viscoelastic fluids in domains with outlets to infinity, *Journal of Mathematical fluid Mechanics*, 2 (3), 185-218 (2000).
- [66] Pileckas K., Sequeira A., Videman J.H., A note on steady flows of non-newtonian fluids in channels and pipes, *EQUADIFF-95 World Scientific*, 458-467 (1998).

- [67] Pontrelli G., Flow of a fluid of second grade over a stretching sheet. *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, **30** (3), 287-293 (1995).
- [68] Rajagopal K.R., On the boundary conditions for fluids of the differential type, *NavierStokes Equation and Related Non-Linear Problems*, Plenum Press, New York, 273-278 (1995).
- [69] Rajagopal K.R., Kaloni P.L., Continuum Mechanics and its Applications, Hemisphere Press, Washington, (1989).
- [70] Rajagopal K.R., A note on unsteady unidirectional flows of a non-Newtonian fluid, Int. J. Non-Linear Mech., 17, 369-373 (1982).
- [71] Rajagopal K.R., Gupta A.S. On a class of exact solutions to the equations of motion of second grade fluid, *J. Eng. Sci.*, **19**, 1009-1014 (1981).
- [72] Rajagopal K.R., On the decay of vertices in a second grade fluid, *Meccanica*, **9**, 185-188 (1980).
- [73] Rao B.N., Flow of a fluid of second grade over a stretching sheet, *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, **31** (4), 547-550 (1996).
- [74] Rivlin R.S., Ericksen J.L., Stress-deformation relations for isotropic materials, J. Rational Mech. Anal., 4, 323-425 (1995).
- [75] Le Roux C., Existence and uniqueness of the flow of second-grade fluids with slip boundary conditions, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 148, 309-356 (1999).
- [76] Shkoller S., Smooth global Lagrangian flow for the 2D Euler and second-grade fluid equations, *Appl. Math. Lett.* **14**, 539-543 (2001).
- [77] Siddiqui A.M., Kamran Alam M., Islam S., Rahim M.T., A class of exact solutions of second grade fluid, *International Journal of the Physical Sciences*, **6** (24), 5601-5608 (2011).
- [78] Siddiqui A.M., Islam S., Ghori Q.K. Two-Dimensional Viscous Incompressible flows in a Porous Medium. J. Porous Media, 9 (6), 591-596 (2006).
- [79] Siddiqui A.M., Provost A., Schwarz W.H., Peristaltic pumping of a second-order fluid in a planar channel, *Rheol. Acta*, **30**, 249-262 (1991).
- [80] Tani A., Le Roux C., Steady-state solutions to the equations of motion of second- grade fluids with general Navier-type slip boundary conditions in Hölder spaces, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. St. Peterburg. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov., 306, 210-228 (2004).

- [81] Tanner R.I., Plane creeping flows of incompressible second order fluids, *Phys. Fluids*, **9**, 1246-1247, (1996).
- [82] Ting T.W., Certain non-steady flows of a second-order fluid, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 14, 126 (1963).
- [83] Teschl G., Ordinary Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems, AMS, Providence (2011).
- [84] Tricomi F.G., Integral Equations, Intersience, New York (1957).
- [85] Troy W.C., Overman E.A., Ermentrout G.B., Keener J.P., Uniqueness of flow of a second-order fluid past a stretching sheet, *Quarterly of Applied Mathematics*, **44** (4), 753-755 (1987).
- [86] Truesdell C., Noll W., The nonlinear field theories of mechanics, Handbuch der Physik, 3 (3), (1965).
- [87] Vajravelu K., Roper T., Flow and heat transfer in a second grade fluid over a stretching sheet, *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, **34** (6), 1031-1036 (1999).
- [88] Zygmund A., Trigonometrics series, Cembridge University Press, (1988).
- [89] Walters K., Relation between Coleman-Nall, Rivlin-Ericksen, Green-Rivlin and Oldroyd fluids, Zamp 21, 592-600 (1970).